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Court met pursuant to adjourmment,

(Jury auly tupaneled asd gwora).
The Court samonished the Jury in w
with Seetiom 416 of the Code of crmﬂ re
and takes an adjournment until tqorrd\.
March 24, 1904,
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March 24, 1904,
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MR, VEIGHRUPT: I move to n-au the mum i
upon the ground that it charges the amum ﬂmt
the commission of two .ra-u. and that u u%
to law, Ao

THE COURT: What two erimes? - ‘

MR, VEISHAUPT: Pirst, it charges that he atded

and abetted im the commission of the crimg, and second

it charges separately that he counselled, ow
and procured the act to be done, | |

THE COURT: T will demy your motiem at this time

with leave to renew after the proof is in. 'Q“n

hear the proof and see what oi't- is showmn, Af M Al

Exception. '

Mr. Townsend opens the case on behalf of the



People.,
MR, VEISHAUPT: I lttor to u-u

defendant that om the 20th day of January ,

at the premises 231 and 233 Bast 33rd mm |
10 o'clook im the eveming, two women mamed ﬂm
Johnson and Cora Smith publiely laid \0& Onﬂm
on the stage there, ‘

MR. TOWNEEND: We do not want that sdmissiom,

FICHOLAS SCHLOEDER, called &5 a witness '
in behalf of the People, being duly sworm and n.dill‘, |
testified as follows: - g

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR, TOWNSEND:

Q You live where? A I 1live at 341 Bast 68th m.

m.ttul, New York City.

Q Your occupatiom is what? A Lawyer,
Q Do you know the d-fendant at the bar? A I do, ; ”f«;};
Q@ Do you recellect whem 1t was that you first beoame
acquainted with him? A I should judge about a year age, '

poseibly a 1little lomger,

Q VWhere was 1t? A He called up my office them at 287 ,

Broadway and told me that he had sucoeseded to the rights of

one August ¥, Simmermanmn, as proprietor of the nlo-h“
Nos: 231 and 233 Rast 33rd street, of which I was the lamdlord



as trustee of the estate of Frank Skull, deceased, lll\ m
paid me the rent for that monthe~ I can't remember ill*
month it was=-- and said that he would hereafter pay hﬁ
rent as Mr, Zimmermann had dome,

I then told him that I would not releass Zimmermann
from the lease which he held, but that I would also hold him
11able under that lease, and he said he was satisfied. _

Q What else happened at that time? A At that time, _ “
I told him there was a five year lease, He said he knew it, ‘
He knew the lease would expire in ioos. He also said he had
made arrangements with the brewer with reference to !N”“
security doponto; with me, I sajd that was all 'ﬂm,
as lngln I received my rent it was perfectly -iudut'm
to me,

Q These premises do you recollect the numbery A I beg
pardon? ’ |

Q Did you state the number? A I thinke- 231 and 233,

Q Whereabouts? A Between 2nd and 3rd avenue om tho
north side of 33rd street. o

Q In the County of New York? A Im the County ¢4m York
and Borough of Manhattan,

Q@ Do you recollect the name of the hall which was
given? A That I 40 not recollect,




Lo
Q You have been there to see the premisesy A Q, ”p',
"I have seen them a number of times, ;
Q Did you ever meet the defendant there? A Yes,
gir; I met him there,
Q When, after that time? A Yes, sir, tft;r a while

he became rather d-linquent in paying his rent, and would not

answer the letters I wrote to him requesting the ront.im [ 1]
I called upon him twice thereafter. Once he paid me some=
thing on agoount in hie place of business there, and another
time he said he would come down and pay, and that must have
been either September or October or the Nclmu "ot'lﬂ:ﬁbtll‘
of last year. |

Q Dﬁ you see him again at the premises? A No, 'ﬂro-;

I saw him twice.

G When were those two occasions, do you recellect about Ly
when? A One I believe was in Bopf:-nbor, and the other i

Oc tober or November., I don't remember which of the two months 3

it was, i
Q Did you look through the premises at that timey A T %
3

Q Can youdescribe them? A I can describe the premises,

not alone from that interview, but from being there at the

time Bimmermann m"poﬁhendﬁ‘ dr it, The premises omlfm ““':?'4,



ed of a saloon about the sise of this room, and back ut m
saloon there was a partitioned off a large nu. mm 0
meeting hall for lodges and other places like that, and above
that there was a smaller hall, and above that there wers ”.-

A

ple living there, A regular tenement house,people I douu Mﬂ

iy E
8"
!s

that were laboring people with their families, He had a
lease of the whole premises at $200 per month. He nm(“
the entire premises and sublet these things, "

Q You say you saw him in November=- did he make any
payment to you? A Yes, sir; he did, very oﬂc'l. ‘ -

Q The last payment he made to you was about M
A The last payment I think he made to me personally was im i
Ootober of last yeary

Q Then you know that he made another payment to ome
of your concern? A He made a payment to the managing elerk
of the firm Straley, Hasbruck & Sohloeder,

Q Vhen was that made? A In January, January of this
year,

Q Your managing clerk here? A He 1s~- he was my '.

managing clerk, ;

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR, WRISHAUPT:

Q As the trustes of an estate, owning real estate, real




property, did you take any intersst ia tho‘& !‘q’
premises were put? A Certainly I did. k. .

Q You inquired to ascertain if those )r"tm‘-" .
used for any improperpurposes? A I did-- net that ﬂtﬂ;&
but I inquired to find out for what thny were ll.l. 50 B Ff{;’
they were used for improper purposes, I would not p.llﬂ Ildh
things to exist,

Q Made personal investigation? A I did as far as I

could.

tion was this, from what information I could get th. hlll
was hired out to labor unions and lodges and OcM m
societfes, and in the front there was an ordinarye- mx “
eonnuorod a German beer uloon. Upstairs the hlll s ht”:'
for the same purposes and the residents appeared to be w
men with their wives and children-- appeared to be nrtut_l: |
respectable to me, .
Q Did you satisfy yourself at any time as to the use
to which the stage imn the hall, on the ground floor was .

put? A T was informed that it was used by the presiding

officers of these various lodges and labor unions to make

spesches,

Q Did you ever ascertain whether amateur entert



W -

of any kind, were given? A I never ascertained
heard of that.

at which various lodges and societies ud labor ul
meet at these rooms. I was present one evening when ome o
the labor unions was meeting there-- that is I '.l M |
for the purpose of collecting my rent, and saw the m'
sitting around the tables there doing their Nﬂnw

Q Vas there anything improper or immoral dome at that
time? A VNothing whatever, :

Q You say Mr, Schaumloeffel paid you the i“\»f.’!‘f thl“
premises? A He did.

Q Do you know whether he owned the ulnl’A ﬂiﬁf tﬂ‘
me so, I don't know so, except that mMﬂ“

Q That he ran the saloom or or owned or leased M
premises? A He told me he was the proprietor of the .m,
that he had succeeded to Mr. Zimmerman who was fomrl,#'-th
proprietor, and he told me that Mr, Zimmerman had ram m .
from his wife and he had succeeded and was going to take ).‘h !
session of the plce and paid me the remt, -

Q He told you that? A At the beginmning-- tut hl
the first time I ever met him. He called upon n. & | w

knew him before that.



ed to you? A No one whatever, not during Wr.
tenancy, did I hear any complaint whatever. A

Q As far as you know, the place was used at mu—.
for purposes which were not either immoral or M“uﬂ
A As far as I know, certainly. |
BY WR. TOWNSEND: i e, B

Q You were not notified of the prise umn A m
heard anything of that sort, mever knew, and X mr l‘lb'
ocalled there for an interim of nine months,

Q You do not live im that part of tosm¢ A Ne, sire-
for an interim of nime months, I was not there.

MR. WEISHAUPT: We will admit that the defendant

paid the rent,

LEON A, CARLEY, called as a witness in behalf of
the Paople, being duly sworn and examined, ttﬁlf“‘

as follows:




D!Ml‘ EXAMINATION BY MR, rﬂl‘m
Q Your business is vhat? A I am an QRM{J

Q And you live where? A 316 West 84th ltmt..,._‘
Q Do you know the defendant at the bar bmw
A I do.
Q Vhen was it for the first time you met hll to M
him? A I haw seen him at my office. I won't state fhﬂl
the time. :
Q You were comnected with the firm of the n;tiﬂl :
who just preceded yout A Yes, sir, .
Q Last year, you meam the latter part of last yea
A Yen, siry
Q Did he ever have any tramsactions with rm l w
in the payment of rent for these ’rc-uos on M “N _‘ ‘
Q Vhen was that? A On January uu.

Q Of thie year? A Of this year,

-~

Q What was done at that time when you saw him? A He

;
v
i
:

o

came in and paid $200.
Q Did he say anything about it, or was anything said
about what the $200 was for?t A It was for rent, and at the

time he requested an allowance to him for a couple of small

B g g T Sy, g et

bills he had paid in the way of repairs, and I told him that
T knew nothing about that that Mr. Schloeder was the tnm;;
of that estate and I would communicate with him in I‘m tm‘r




thoss matters, Mr. Sohlosder at that time beimg homs
Q You saw him upom several coomsiomst A I never has

seen him upon many occasions, #

. @ More than ome? A Yes, sir; I think I have, lbfm
office, but that 1s the only time I had any business with
him, |

s

Q That you had any business with him¢ A Yes, sir,

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR, VEISHAUPT: i

Q You never saw Schaumlosffel at the 33rd street Pplace? 8
A T thimk not, no,. sir. | | Fr ’ ;

Q Did you ever go there? A I never was there Mur to
this January 12th.: I have beem there simce that time,

Q You have been there simce them? A Yes, olr. ;

Q And when yﬁu went there om January 12th, did you
loock around the place? A I did not go there, He omme to -ur -
place to pay his rent. | '

Q You were never in the 33rd street place? A Up to that
time I say no.

Q Up to January 12th? A January 1l2th,

Q After that? A After that I have been there,

Q@ What was the first time you went there after January
12¢h? A I can't state the exact time,

Q Was it before January 20th? A That I would not




tive. If I d1d4 go there it was in regard to this remt, to

get the rent, s G
Q Vhenever you went there you looked around th' M S

A I was only im the fromt part im the salooh. Sapkaiint. |
Q Did not look im the hall at all back of the Baloom?

A Never was in the hall back of the ul;oﬂ until two weeks

ago about. .

Q Did not go upstairs? A No, sir, PO e e ‘

Q You say you were in the hall back of the uxmm
two weeks ago? A Just about,

Q Was the place open or closed at that time® A m, ! ‘

it is practically closed. We are dispossessing the ttﬂl‘ti M

are looking for some arrangement to handle the houu-

Q At the time you were there did you see any charters
around the walls for labor unions or singing societies or
anything of the sort? A I do not recall any, '

Q Did you see any list of lodges and meeting tll‘ out

in the saloom? A I do not recall that there was amy,




RE DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR, TOWNSEND:

Q You were there om the 12th of January . "“

the day was it? A No, Mr. Townsend, Twas not on thels

AL
7l

we came to our office om the 12th,

Q What day were you there? A I cannot say as to

N

that, . ;
Q Vas it after he had beem to your office, KWW 3
12¢h? A Yes, sir; I have been there after the 12th, ’i“
think before the 1l2th. l ’ '
Q I mean just about that time, did you ses hl]n there,
the point is, vhen you were there--~ what d“ you go Mo
for? A I went there to oellect the rent, and I did l’“ M

it.

Q Did you see him at that timey A No, sirj I saw

o
L,

his wife, ‘_
Q Did you see him there after that? A No, I never {
have seen him thera,
Q Now, you say the rent was paid $200 was paid . the ¢
13th of January, that paid the rent up to whem A Up teo m a
1st of January, i
Q The rent was payable in advance, was it? A hl, sir,
in advance, x» that is, as I understand. |
Q The rent, as I understood was paid at the close of
each month? A Xt was paid at the close as I un“rlh_q,.

TS Py,



that,
Q It wae not cellected really in advanoe, ¢9l
at the end? A I think that was the lit\uttﬂ._om' '

the close of the month,

RE CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR, WEISHAUPT: . ‘ ‘
R Who paid you the rent em the 13tht A Mr, SiMamileste |
fel, ' . g | iy %
Q Was Mrs. Schaumloeffel there? A No, sir, e ;
Q You say you saw Mrs, Schaumloeffel ia m’ll.d'
A I saw her at the place on 33rd street,
Q fou saw her there? A Yes, sir, ' . "
Q Om the 12th he came down to your office? A Yes,
sir, |

Q Did you ever ascertaim who owned the saloon? A I

don't know anything about that,

JOHN M, O0' SHBA, called as a witness on behalf of
the People, being duly sworn and examined, testified
as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR, TOWNSEND:



Q mat. is your occupation? A County detective.

Q Commected with the District Auoruyip cmn Iv i
A Yes, sir. _ | |

Q And has beem for semésime? A Tes, AP,

Q Vere you so employed on the 20th of January?
A T was. ' | |

Q Now, Mr. O'Sheq, are you familiar with the premises
231 and 233 Bast 33rd street in the County of New Yorke? A M
eir, ‘ i |

Q They are in the cou;ty of New York, are they? A Yes,
sir, o,

Q Do you recollect the 20th of January? A I do, yes,
Q In the svening? A Yes, sir, .

Q Whers wers you about eight o'clook? A At 8:30 I was
at 231 and 233 Bast 33rd streets

Q Anybody with you at that time? A Yes, sir,

Q What did you find when you got to 231 and 233 Bast 33rd
‘street, what did you find there? A I found a iiqucr saloon
and I entered in the front door and I seen the defendant at
the bar.

Q I show you this photograph? A Yes, sir; that is the
saloon I have reference to.

Q That is thie place? A That 4is the saloon I have (&

referred to.



defendant wae behind the bar,
Q Do you recognize this mam, the '4'-:..1-'-1. l.
recognize seeing him there that night? A Yes, .ﬁl‘b o
Q What was he doing the first time you saw hll' A ﬁ, |
was behind the bar talking to some man at the b.‘M* en~ i
tered. :
Q What did you do then? A I was introduced to th A
defendant. |
Q By wham? A By a man that was introduced to ﬂ
as Jones, Mr, Jomes. I was introduced to the WGM
Q In what way were you introduced, -nu what m m
A I was introduced eas Mr, Blake, and he satd 'ﬂ!lp is the m
of the place”. ' i 50
Q Who said that? A This Mr. Jomes.

Q Said that while in the presence of the defendant?

A Yes, sir, and Mr. Schaumloeffel shook hands with me and
we had a drink there, ' | i
Q At that time did he say agthing to you? A Mr, Jones ;
said to him that I was a young man that he knew and that I
wanted to see the oirous. ' ‘ '

MR, WEISHAUPT: I move to strike that out, "the

words "to see the circus®.



BY THR COURT:
@ Vas it said in the presense of the

A Yes, sir; it wap,

mcoum':' Ve will receivs it mmm*
of showing the conduct of the defendant, as M ‘
the res gestae. v
Exception,
THE WITNESS: (Continuing) So Y asked the
defendant if the show was goimg to be all right, and he said

"Yes, it would be a good show.* BSo he said it would cost me

two dollars and a half to go in therey

}

Q@ Two dollare and a half? A Yes, sir. So, he M m .
behind the bar and he asked for mymomey, and I gave W‘
one dollar bills, and so he took me in the rear room to a mam

named BSohaefer,

Q Look at that photograph,, just hold it up se the airj
can see, and point which way you went? A He. came from behind ﬁ
the bar here and met me about this post.” Them he took my i
money there and brought me im the rear room here,, Thers was . 4
a man named Schaefer standing at that rear dooree- : 3

Q Holda up the photograph? A He came from behind the
bar here, and met me at that post, and thea took my it-ly
here, and brought me into the rear room behimd this lﬂﬂa

box office.




Q There was a door there ia the rwr
gir; there is a door there, .
Q At that door=-- A Vas a man named ﬁ
Sohaunl coeffel handed my money over to Schaefer, .
Q@ The defsndant handed your money to hhuf.r’\ A
Schaefer returned me fifty cents, i b :
Q Did Schaumloeffel 'uy anything as he did that? A ﬁ@
sir, ¢
Q What did he say? A He said "This 1l~ th_il young
man's money”, and Schaefer took the money and gave me fifty
cents c-hngo and admitted me into the rear r.ﬂp .‘ ‘ '
Q I ask you to look at that diagram there: ‘ Is M the
room you got into? A That ‘is the room. R |
Photograph is offered in evidence, il
It is received and marked "People's Mlu‘- 8‘0
Another photograph is offered in evidence -ﬂ i
received and marked "People's Exhibit 2%,
BY MR. ronsuné
Q Just take that photograph, Exhibit 2«- were there any
people in that room at that time? A Yes, sir; that room was
quite crowded.
Q With whet? A Crowded with men,
Q Vhat were the men doing? A Sitting at tables and

-

around the chairs and smoking and drinking beer.



Q Was the room lightea? A Yes, sir, lighted
or four lights there,
Q At the end of the room there was ﬁt’ "A

a stage, platform and stage with scenery om both aides,

Q How high was that above the floor? A I should judge

about four feet.

Q Any light over this stage? A Yes, sir; thoﬂﬁr.‘-
a big electric light there.

Q This was about what time when you went in th‘orﬂ
A Avout 8:304

Q@ In the evenimg? A In the evening, P. M.

Q Vhat did you do vhen you got im there? A Whem t.m

in there, there was a e¢olored gentleman at the door, amd he

directed me to take a seat and so I walked up.

Q Do you know his name mowt? A Yes, sir; George Bumdd,
and I walked up along the side here and took a seat on th._
fifth seat here on the side.

Q How far were you from the stage there? A I should
Judge about 15 or 20 feets

Q What did you do then? A Waited there until the lhﬁ

was announced.

Q How many people were im there~-- was the show announos

ed fimally? A Yes, sir,

Q About what time? A About 8:45,

i

i
i
il
3
.

i



Q And many in there at that time? A Yes, ltﬂ
was about 300 mem, % A h i, %

Q 300 men? A Yes, sir, S

Q And you speak of the show being announced, state m
happened? A Why--- ‘

MR, nrauur'ri I object upom the ground it

has not beem shown that Mr. Sohsumloeffel was
present,

THE COURT: We will receive it,

Exception.

THE WITNESS: (Continuing) A man by the name
of Sheppard came on the stage and he num“}ﬁl‘l - v“i by
the name of Birdie Smnith would give a performance there, and
he mounou her as the girl with diabetes of the ass hole.

MR, WEISHAUPT: I move to strike that out upom

the ground that Mr. Schaumloeffel's connection with
this psrformance has not beemn shown,

Wotion denied:! Excoeption, _

THE WITNESS: (Continuing) About two or three
minutes after that, this Birdie Smith came upon the stage,
and she started todance and then removed her clothing., u
removed all her clothes except her stockings and shoes and she

went through a Spanish dance om the stage, and that lasted

I should judge, about five minutes,



Q Vas shn white or colored? A mu drl.
BY THE coonr:

Q Vas she the first performer? A No, nr; M*m&
performer before her who just sang a song and lott th' | i
stage. fhe did not disrobe. £he was the second nrtm.

MR, WEISHAUPT: I object to all this om 7

upon the ground stated.

THE comu'; Objection overruled..

Exception,

THE WITNESS: (Comtinuing) He announced & woman
by the nams of Vera Olecott. He announced her as the m
with the tight ass hole, and she came on the stage, and she ”‘
dressed when she oame upom the stage, and thes she l‘—“
her clothing, and she done the Spamnish dance.
BY THE COURT:

Q What do you mean by the Bpninh dance? A She ocalled

it the Spanish belly dance, hoochee cooches,
BY THE COUR‘IQ
Q She called it the Spamish belly dance? A Yes, eir.
MR, WEISHAUPT?! I mow to strike out this tes~-
timony about diabetes on the ground that was not
made in the presence #f this defendant,
Motiom denied,

Exoeptionm,



THE nmu. (Continuing) Her perfor

lasted about five minutes, and them he announced nM
woman by the name of Flora Temple, ghe was llllm l.
a Spanish fandango, to do a Spanish dance, and she game upom i
the stage, and she removed her olotnng and went thrclﬂ l' W
contortion -o:?:u Spanish dance too. Bhe had nomlj but her
shoes and stockings on. Then they announced Helem Colsom _
and a man named Arthur Ashtonm. They were anmounced, and M .
came omn and they gave an exhibition of sexual imtercourse om
a chair, on top of the stage. That lasted I should judge
about five minutes.
BY MR, 'rorlsmm;'
Q How were they introduced? A They were htrm-”
as the coeck sucker lllt;rlo
Q As the cook sucker sisters? A Yes, sir.
Q These announcements were made in a loud tone of
voice? A Yes, eir,
MR, 'BIS&MU?T;' I move to strike out all that | \-"
testimony upom the ground, first, that they have not f
proven that this was in the presence of the defendant, i
Sohaumloeffel, and, sscond, that none cf th hvo\q“
showa to be comnected with this erime of oouq..
THE COURT: It is part of U res gosten. lesaing
wp. I willredeive it.



. BY MR, TOWNSEND:

Exoeption, ol
THE VITNESE: (Contimuing) This Arthur Ashte
was dressed in woman's olothes, and he removed all m a

except the under drawers, and this Helen 001.- r

her clothes except her shoes and ltnu‘l‘lo They ¢
an intermission of half an hour. .
BY MR, TMBB!D

Q Vhat did they do? A They A;rn an exhibvition of
sexual intercourse on the chair,.

Q@ An exhibitiom of aﬁ A Yes, sir,

BY THE COURT:

Q What do yowmean by exhibition? A They callsd it am
exhibi t1on. i
BY THE COURT:

Q Dia thoy have sexual utorooum? A 'hl. nr.

Q Then there was an intermission? A There was, yes,
sir, about half an hour, Then, after the imtermission, there

were two colored womem anmounced by this Eheppard as the wm

e SR T e I e e R S g W

who would piss ink and shit shoe blacking, and these two colors

s

ed women, Bertha Johnson and Cora Smith came upon the stage,
and they began to disrobe, and the short: womam, this shorter
woman of the two lay upon the floor, and the taller MQ

the two lay on top of her, and went through the motions of



aase e T e

sexual intercourse., That lasted I should say a ‘
of mimutes, and this Mr. Schasfer stopped th; po
and told them that they better do it om the table, &
hands up a table.
BY MR. 'lIHMM‘ :
Q Vas that Schasfer or Sheppard? A bwﬂ'q :
BY MR, rmm;
Q Schaefer handed up a table? A Yes, sir; and told
them to get om that so the audience would not have to stand,
and 80 this shorter woman lay her back on the table and the b
taller woman lay just the reverse and they put their heads ix
the private parts o;::nothor. and began lhl&o_ :
MR, WEISHAUPT: I object and move to strike that
oute
Motion denied. Exception,
THRE vn'nui (Continuing) Then the announcer
came upom the stage, and he asked that somebody=-- | «
BY MR, TO'IBII‘D; ‘
Q ©Sheppard? A Sheppard, yes, came upon the stage, and
asked the audience to step up and ses that it was on the
level, that they were doing the sucking all rt.hg.
BY THR CWB;
Q Vere those his words? A Yes, ll;;
BY MR, 'ronmn;




Q He said are they suockimg all ﬂdit?
BY THE COURT:

Q Give just the words he used?

THE WITNESS: He announesd that he wanted them
to oome up and see the show was on the level and that they
were doing the sucking all right, tu so one of the audience
a man by the name of Simon Kelly went upon the stage and ln'
looked at them and he saide--

BY MR, rontmuﬁ

Q What is his other mame? A Butcher Sam, he was hﬂ
as. He got up om the stage, and he said they are dm it
all right, all right, and so he pulled m taller woman from
the shorter woman, and he got om top of the t;ih and he had
sexual intercourse with the colored womam, and whenm lllm :

through with her, she got off, and the ofhlr woman got om

In T VNSRS T

the table, and he had sexual intercourse with the other

T e
gm0

woman, and that lasted I should say about five minutes,: and

the announced came upon the stage and he said "Ve will have a
little of the same thing im the same e¢olor®, and then Tom Lewis ‘
another colored mam that was in the audience came upon the 8
,stage, and he took off some of his clothing,.just left om his
under drawers and shirt and shoes and socks,.and he went q
the stage, and he had sexual intercourss with this colored

woman, the shorter of the twe,, | 1



MR, VEISHAUPT: I make the same mmm n
befors, that Mr. Shauslosffel has net besn proves
to be comnected with u.v £

Objection overruled. Bxoeption,

THE VITWESS: (cnttM) lun'm_thl‘\
ed that that concluded the perfermanse. |
BY MR, -ronm;

Q Was there any piano there? A Yes, sir} thers
was. o ;
Q State what happened was anybody playing? A There
was, during the performance by this odoru pﬂlm. M ’,
were plmu a pilece entithed "Good by ntu Jane",
Q WVere there any moitations upon the stage? A M
was. 5
Q VWnere did that take place? A That took place right
as this eolored mam ' éame uponm the stage, He recited
a4 poem there. . | !
Q The cclored man? A Yoi,, sir, this Tom f-ﬂtl.
Q Vhat any announcement made of the title of R'
A Yo, esir., He anmounoced it mnl:..
Q Vhat did he say? A He oniu it "Stand up nobdle
priock*,

Q These women had their clothing entirely off, were

entirely naked? A  With the exceptiom of shoss and m-m



Q About how lonj, including recess or mis
. was this performance, how much time? A It m“
five minutes after team o'clock, . :

Q About an hour and twenty minutes? "A t.l.m‘(

Q The audience seated all the time during the

went to the tollet and others went to the bar to W‘M Ak

Q When the show was going onm, what position did ,_‘m |
take? A  They were all sitting down faeing the staghe o
Some were standing up in the rear of the hall that had me |

seats,

we made the arrest.

Q Btate during the performance where you saw him9 A ‘

the hall, He had an addition to the bar there, : i
Q He had an additiom to the bar in the rear im the halless’

. 5 {Eo
just show where that was? A You cannot show on this pie~ ﬂ

ture, it is the back hers., I can show may be om the dda=
gram. |

Q It was im the largehall? A Yes, siry

Q WVhere? A Right im back of this box offfces This

W

ol
is the large hall, and this is the stages Here is the seats;



row of seats,

Q On the side? A On the sides s

Q Where were the chairs? A Others were nrﬂl(ih M
with tables and chairs,

Q Where was this improvised bar? A Right back of thi‘. | e\

box office, right here, _

Q In view of the stage? A Yes, sirj it fl‘.d'thi
stage. There was a table right here with a llot of glasses
on, and there was two taps right here, fausets for the beer
to come out of. | " .

Q mrhé the performance did you see Sohaumloeffel?

(A At this bar, yes. | |

Q At that bar? A Yes, sir,

Plam or diagram is offered im evidencs,
;  Received and marked "People's Exhibit 3,°

Q Just show the jury the door from the bar room om

this plan exhibit 3?2 A This is the door they used right

here,

Q Th@t was the door where you entered from ihl bar rM_
A Yes, ‘ir, _

Q Where is the bar room om that diagram? A Right
here (indicating).

Q The strest entrance is where? A Herees

s e T e
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Q Walked right in thers and right around asd just
that ome door between the show and the bar roasy A Thess
were doors here, and they were closed. They were u«'m M
evening. S

Q Wnere was Schaefer when you went in? A Right here at
this doar,

Q Sohaumloeffel handed the money to Schasfer while he
was there? A At this door, yes, and the colored man Bundi
was on the inside of the door.

0 Were there any dressing rooms there? A On o;oh lu..‘
of the room there was a small room where the girls eatered and
dressed themselves, .

Q They all entered this door-~ which door dia they u«r

to get to the stage? A  They all osme through the same door

here and walked up this aisle into this room.

Q To the stage where the rooms were? A Yes, sir,

Q Look at that photograph-- you say Schaefer handed wp
a table? A Yes, sir,

Q Upom which these two women subsequently laid?
A Yes, sir; that is this table here upom the stage,

Q That is showm in the photograph? A Yes, sir,

Q Was there » light there? A Right under that ﬂ‘t
(indicating).

Q@ That is the table upom which the women 1laid® A That



"

{8 nmot the table, but 1t is eme similar to it. ,
O You took the table that night? A Yes, sirj
station house. . ‘

Q WVere you present at the time the defendant m M

ksl

ed? A Yes, sir,
Q Where was he nrrutoﬁ A He was arrested uu- Gl
hall. “ 5
Q In this concert hall? A Right at the hall, = _,?“‘
Q Do you recollect what was said, or what i- -.u-{ i
the time? A No, sir; I dom't remember hearing hll say
Q Did you ses him afterwardsy A In the statien

house, )

Q Did you talk to him? A No, s=ir,

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR, WEISHAUPT:

’Q When you came into this place, you came im through the

entrance to the saloonm, not through sither of the entrances

“‘i
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on the side? A I came in through the saloom smtrange.

s

S T

Q That me about what time? A About eight thirty,

i

ey PRTe o e

Q Who did you meet theree- you say you saw Sohaum-

loeffele- who did you meet there-- mentiom people you met

o

there? A Met in the saloon?

PR el

Q Yes. A I met nobody in the saloon until after the



arrest, oy

Q DPida't you say a man by the name _‘_8-, '8 had

and introduced me to Bchauml oefifel,

Q Who is this Jomes? A I don't kmow exmetly h

) !

18. He was introduced to me as Jones.

Q Where? A At the office upstairs,

Q Do you knavwwhere he lives? A No, sir, ;

Q Do you know what his business 1s? A T do not know,
I do not know what his business is. |

Ty

Q' Do you know whether that is his right mamey A T do

not know,

Q Ho introdwed you to Schaumloeffel ti Mr, Blake?
A Yes, sir. :

Q Did you ever see Mr, Schaumloeffel befores A No, sirj
I never did.

Q You say that you teld Mr. Sohaumlosffel that you Iﬂtd
to see the circus? A Yes, sir,

Q What did you mean by sayimg the circuse-- did um-u i
tell you what character of performance was to be there tht
night?

THE QOURT: I would mot ask that questiom, if I

were youw, counmellor. If you want to, I am not

going t0 esay. you shall not ask it, I will not forlu‘

e



you, If you want te, you may, but you see

you are opening the door for him to give w ‘
of hearsay testimony on this oﬁ;ul\\m M
to . ‘ £\
MR, WETSHAUPT: I will ﬂmr‘v the quomm
BY MR, nxmm§ i :
Q Who told you this show was to occur tt:-lrﬂ' A fhtl
ir. Jones,
Q You met him upstairs? A Yes, sir, 7
Q You went from upstairs directly to 33rd ﬂrn't"
A Yo, sir. ; :
Q What time did you get to 33rd mtrest? A About 8:30.
Q 8:30, and Mr, Jones nl the only man that "m m
whom you knew, or the only man that went in with you? A The
only man that went in with me that I knew,
Q Did you see anybody there that you Knew? A ' Yes,
sir, |
Q In the saloon? A That I had met before, yes,: _7
Q Who were they? A I saw Mr, Watsom there duriag the |
performange.
Q Whe is he? A He is, I believe, comnected with the
New York Jﬁﬁirul.
Q Aﬁyhﬂy-oln?l A And this Mr, Jomes,
Q/Anypody from the detective office? A I met nobody
olse S that I knew,




Q Mr, Sohaumlosffel you say toek your
sir, r

Q@ And handed it over to lr. bhutoﬂ A hm‘”
to ¥r, &hu.tor. ‘ S i

Q And he said "This is this young man's IMA “
actly. | Yl

Q And you say he turned it over to Mr. l-hufor “
that side door there? A Yes, lir.

Q That is the side hall as you snter? A The door uu-
~ing into the rear room, | ‘ i

Q Not the foldimg door? A Not the folding doer,
no, sir, ,

Q Handed 1t to Mr, Schaefer, inside or ogtm," ’
A Outside.

Q Was the performance going on at that timey A It was

not,

Q You said nothing to Mr. Schaumloeffel about the chare

acter of the performance except that you wanted teo ses the
circus? A I asked him if it was all right, and he said njd.
it was going to be a good show. ‘
Q That is all you said? A That was all, He told me
it would cost me two dollars and a half.,

Q You say he was present in the room at the time this pers

formance was going on? A During the performance, yes, .



v

Q What do you mean by during the performance, at all

timest A ot at all times, I 40 mst say that. T saw him

at different times duriang the performance, .
Q What was goijg om at the time, did you see him at

the time these twe negro womem were om the stage? A ! didn't ‘

‘look to see him at that time,

Q You cannot say that you mw him there at that ttﬁ.
can you? A Not at that wtteulu minute, no, sir, I omn',

Q Minute? A Well, five -uutoin. ‘

Q Vere you very much W:.-tu':(hc performance? A Not
in the performance. I was interested looking to see Who was
taking part in the performance. ‘

Q You saw -verything that wnt on, on the stage? A Yes,
sir, ‘

Q And yet you had time to turn and see Mr, &Mut‘hl
and Mr. Bundi and hosts of other people~- and did you ses Mr,
Watson tﬁcro? A I did, during the performange.

Q What was the last time that you saw Sohaumlosffel
in the rear of the room? A At the time he was arrested,

Q I mean during the performanee? A I saw him there
at different times, ' I saw him there when I was~-- right
after the show was ended I saw him there, whem the orowd oommenc~

ed to leave.

Q Before that, when did you see him? A T seen him dure



ing the imtermissiom. N

Q During the ut.nu-um A Yes, sir,

Q When a1a you see him borm that? A v.u. o “w
different times before that. I can't recall who was “ 5
the stage at the time,

Q Se that bitn-n the time of the intermission l‘
the time that the show ended, =nd thatws the period im which
these two colored girles committed this alleged sodomy, :ﬁ
did see Mr, Schaumloeffel in that rear room? A what i»
that questiomn?

Q I may, between the time of the imtermissionm, and the
u-i when the show ended, which was the time im which mn
two women committed this alleged act on the stage, you did not
see Mr, Schaumloeffel Am that rear room, -did you? A i I ‘..'i_
know whether I did or note I do not recall sesing hh.

Q You cannct say whether you did or nety A B'.,}'Iir‘; i

Q You 'do not know? A T cannot say that he might have
been in there at that time-- at the time they were oﬂltftu
the sodomy-~ I do not know,

0 You say you saw him at the end of the showy A Yes,
sir,

Q And you saw him at the time of the tntouuudf
A Yes, eir, |

Q And you oannot say at all, from any receol)ection



that you have, that you saw him in ¢t

was in there since the intermissionm.
Q Since the intermission? A Yes, .ll;l‘ ’ lfﬁf'
mission. | T ,
Q How can you say that? A Becauss I seen him Qﬂw
that. ' 4.:{  ‘
Q You say that the first time before the end otm llw
that you mw him was at the time of the 1utom1.!&ﬁ? A 1 add ‘ _ “lt|
not, You asked me if that was the last timee= the last tfﬂ
I saw him was the time he was arrested. V‘ . |
| Q How often did you see him betweem the time of the
intermigsion, and the end of the show? A Three Or t“‘

times.

Q SBure of that? A Positive,

A What was he doing at that time? A He was dishing M'_

some of the drinks while the waiters were oarting them up
and down. | =
Q Did you ever see him look on the stage? A I seen him
near the stage, .
Q Serving beer? A Yes~- no, not serving beer, 'ﬁ
was walking around when I saw him. |
Q Looking at the show? A I don't know if he mlukm |
at it, | Sl

Q What was going on at that time? A I seen him at the



Q And you are sure of that? A Pesitive, be

ed around to me Lewis come up from the audienee,

Q@ You are sure it was Mr. Schaumloeffel? A ‘ﬂ; m
positive, e
| Q Saw him very clearly? A Very clearly. " ¥ ‘
Q You say there waz an improvised bawy stand or h" in
the rear of the room? A There was, yes. : ‘
Q Were there any pecple in that roem ﬂrvllg beer, bare
tenders? A Yes, sir; there were three bartenders. s
Q Besides? A Yes, sir, ‘ ‘ | :
Q And thosebartenders were present during the Mu- )

ance? A Yes, sir.

Q Did you ever sese them go out of the roam, or were they
there all the time? A They were there mostly all the
time., I never saw any go out,

Q How many people were there im that place? A I ‘mn :
there must have been 300,

Q All sitting down? A The -Jorify of them were, | Some
were standing.

Q Some standing up? A Yes, sir,

Q You say you saw Mr, Schaumlosffel walking aroumd--+
point out where you saw him walking? A Yes, sir, oomul’.n,,/



L

; ~4n the rear of the room hers, and over 3""9 7 |

him at one ﬁ- over here (mum .
over heres The majority of times I saw w u.r"“
tables.

Q@ In the rear of the roam? A Yes, sir.
stove right near here, and I saw him a good deal ar

stove,

him and the stage. |
Q Some of them were standing uwp? A "tu'ira~-@;¥
in the rear, . e
Q Where were you, peint out where you were .‘“%
A Right here at the side, ' o

Q Vhere did the psrformere o-'o' from when M “ﬁs
the stage? A Came from that mme door that I came M. |
Q@ And they went through this door here? A Passed .?‘
the aisle where I was -uting., ’ A% b
Q Did yow notice these things above your head there? '

A Vhat things?

yese I did notice them.
'Q Did you know what they were? A One was the Wood
workers union. | | g




e, o

\'}:S

ent things, i .
Q These framed things were charters ot mum o
A I don't k-m I d4id not read thn..

Q Above this mn there was another hall, was he
not? A Upstairs? e o

Q Yes, A Thers war & meeting r'oq' of .’. M

Q A meeting room of some nm A Yen, ltl!c

Q Did yuhnvhtmmunmnnﬁ!l
was a meeting going on upstairs,

Q Auoﬁm A TYes, mir,

“f

sogietys- I don't know what it was,

Q A singing society, h' you nm A T believe it

Q Not mu. the singing socisty was holding its |
A Vell, %) they 'yers holding a meeting them, I uum
was quite a rq‘,m«- there. I don't know if they
ing & mesting of not,



Q Where did these girls come from, you M‘ s

in front of you? A Yes, sir, Tk ‘&
Q Do you know where theyoame frem? A X cﬂ“
I know there was a room upstairs that they said w
tne- I did not know if they did or mot, |
Q The only way that anybody could get imte M
at any time, was through this side door horo. m&. :
er had his stand? A Is that the only way he Ooﬂd ”O ‘
there? * 7 = ; ‘5"

Q Yom. A No, that is the only way I seen them using,

but there were other entrances.
Q You mean there were these folding doors? A !’cﬂ,
sir, ‘ 4 ;
‘Q They were locked you say? A Yes, eir, m:tm m »
the only way they entered that room that ui.;ht_.. h
Q I mean there was no other way thrm&h whioch m} 00“'
enter that night except by passing Mr. Schaefer there?
A That was the only way that I seen.
Q Now, Mr, 0'Shea, there was no way in which you ¢ «M
tell or anybody else could tell im that audience what the M
act was going to be? A No, sig, not until they came om, ‘
Q You could not tell what was going to be the “ m
to come on, until it was annoumced by Mg, &M' A M

was the way I could tell by the ,uumocﬁcnt only,
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Q That vas the only way you could tell "hat ¥
to ogcur? A Yes, sire~ there were no )rm..
| Q After the performance was over, what did '
A After it was over I went 1- the street and sent
other officers to come in there.

Q The other officers, you mean there ware m %
officers around there at your call? A l'cl. ILI'. .”.‘ o

Q B0 that at mmy time you called them im they wm cm
in and arrest the people pointed out? A They werse m to
come in any way at 10:30, but the show oud before and I went

out and told them that it endeds

Q But at any time you called them in th.y'b'lul‘ G~
A I believe they would« d

Q And they were there at 10 o%clocky A 'Yo-; om i

Q And they were there at half past niney A Sm thn
at half past eights ‘

Q fome there at half past eighty A Yes, sir,

Q Where nuth.h A I don't know where they were,

Q You esay you summoned them; called them? A Wwhat is
that.

Q You say you went and told them to oome, after this 2
performance was over? A Yes, siry

Q VWhere d1d you find them? A I found one im the halle

B

way across the street,

Q How many were there altogether? A I guees there



Seotion 415 of the Code of Criminal Pro
takes a recess until 2:16,

EDVARD J, REARDON, called nnsﬁmnm“f"

of the Poc’h, being duly sworn and examined, testif .

¥

as f.llwlt
DIRECT IIA!IIATIOI BY MR, rmm:
Q@ Where do you live? A 8!" ﬁot 87th mns. New M
County. ~
Q What 1e your occupation? A County ‘.Dlltu_ih' Oﬂm:._
in the office of the District Attorney of New York om;. i
Q And have been for some time? A- Since th.. lﬂ\m
of January, 1902, o
Q Are you familiar with premises 231 and 233 M m
street? A Yes, sir, e H R

Q WVere you there on th{night of the 20th of W
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Bast 83!‘ street, New York county, nbont 10:20 “'f"l‘ A
‘.‘.
Q Whers did you go? A T entered the. -.,1«- w"w roq b

on the ground floor, I then entered part of a small Nx,

‘small hallway leading into a large room, some of an 50&“}

roam, with piano, tables and chairs and a stage and n table on
the ltt.o.

Q took ‘at the defendant, did you see him there that
night? A Yes, sir; I did,

Q Where was he when you first saw him¢ A I fﬂ-li ll' ;
the defendant downstairs between the~~- in the mw
between the bar room proper and the assembly room,

Q- what was he doing when you first saw him? A He was in
ocustody of one of the detectives at the time. '

Q Do you know Schaefer? A Yes, sir,

Q Did youme him? A Yes, =ir,

Q Where was he? A Schaefer was downstairs vhen I first
saw him.

Q Wap he under arrest at that timey A Yes, sirj
he was ln ou-to‘y of one of the officers,

Vhat did you do when you got there? A I progesded to
th’ first-- one flight up to the first story and T took

gharge of rooms No, 1 and 2, and took charge of the different



Q And was the defemdant ome of those

gir; he was,

passed upstairs to me., I was told to be
wae the proprietor,
out.

BY MR, TWIS!ID' ‘

Q Vas that said in the presende of the ‘o!oﬂi,l’?;”
A Yes, sir,
BY MR, VEISHAUPT:

Q That you were to be careful v“h him?
BY THE cOURTs |

Q Was 1t within his hearing? A Yes, sir, T
that had him in custody at the time maid *Look eut, u. w
is the proprietor] he is charged with sodemy®. I searched
him and found some cards in his po-nui.u.

Q Have you those cards? A T think Hammond turned them
over to ]Wob
BY THE GOURI.‘;

Q You 'hn not got them im your possession? A !O, Mk
I had at the time, but I turned them over to the o”fﬂm
in charge of the raid.

3Y MR, TOWNSEED:



Q I show you these oards, three pieces of .
whether you have seen them before? A I could .05
had seen these before, The ones I took fram the
are 1.1*.1;1“, have my initials on the bnk. ¢
BY THE COURT:

Q Are they in every respect similar to thb’ A tii, g
#ir; they were, | .
BY MR, 'ronsnné e

Q Did you say anything? A Hammond had them & few mems
ents ago. | ;
BY MR, TMS!ID; ;

Q VWhere did you take them from, the cards similar to
these? A I took them from the inside coat pooket of the
defendant at the time of the arrest and raid. ‘ ' :

Q@ What did you say to him? A I ordered him to take .
seat in the room.

Q Did he have anything to say? A Yes, sir; h_. said
he wanted to talk to Sohaefer, and I told him he could net
talk with Schasfer as both he and Schaefer were prisoners om
a felony charge. I think that is about the only conversss
tion. I put the prisoner into the ptrol wagom and took him
to the 35th street station house, He there gave his name

and pedigree to the sergeant at the desk..



* .
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Q@ Did you see one Bundi u'tu'ia-v A Xa ‘
Q where was he when you first saw hM A m : -
the assembly room, I recall. He was later ’lm in ﬂ um'
tody upstairs om the first floor, in the roeom where I m m
aifferent principils, that is reem No, 1, LT
Q Did Bundi say anything to you or yeu to Bundiy i
A Yes, sir; I told Bundi after he was brought upstairs by
one of the detectives~--
MR, WERISHAUPT: I object umless it is nam that
it was in the presence of the defendant. _
THE COURT: Yes, you will have te show that Mr,
Townsend.
MR, TOWSSEND: I offer it upon the theory of
the prosscutiom that he 1s bound by what Bundi said.
THE cw'R'rQ I will receive it subject to a motiom
to strike out unless it is connected with the defemn~
dant,
Exception, ‘ ' 1
THE WITNESS: The other defendant George Bundi,
the colored man was brought upstairs b/y one of the officers
and placed in my custody., The defendant Sghaumloeffel had i
been 'brc;ught up previously and placed in this room, I told “
Bundi he was under arrest on a charge of sedomy, which was v ¢

)

about the filthiest orime on the statute book.



MR. WEISHAUPT: I object and mowve to strike |

out as not responsive, (‘
Motion denied. Exception, i
THE WITNESS: (Continuing)  That anything he
would Bay to me might be used against him upon the tl’tﬂi '
and T advised him not to say anything. He told me that
they pulled those shows off in Philadelphia, and I told him
he oouid not pull those shows off in New York, because if h
did I would drive him into the Bast river, I ‘lllthm a om
sation with one Schaefer, now a fugitive from Jiltho. | ‘
BY MR, 'ronrnm ‘ | ]
Q Where was he? A In the same room, this room Ne,

1. He had been brought upstairs and phbaced in my oustody,

room No, 1 on the first story,

Q What was said to Schaefer and what did he lm A I

told Schaefer he was under arrest om a charge of sodomy, m%
a show, Schaefer took a large number of invitations to this “
affair from hie pocket and threw them on the fleeor, - I ordered
him to take them up which he refused to do, and !')1o.kol the
invitations mlxp myself. Also the two colored women, Cors Mﬁ
and Bertha Johnson were br-ught into the room with this (otﬁ.
dant, room No. 1, of the first story, and aleo one William

Hargie and a woman named Smith,



Q Did you mee this giRl and this other Mllﬂ
sir, I dia, | ‘

Q Vhat were they deing whem you saw M A m
in room No. 2, an adjoining roam to No, 1 em the um ﬂﬂq-;
At the time we went upstairs together ‘uth omor “Mﬂ',
the girl Smithe-= ‘ i

MR, WEISHAUPT: I move to -trtki that out ﬂ the
ground it has not been shown that Schaumloeffel
was present at the tim- or was conmcted with ﬂ-
in any way at all, with this girl,

THE comﬂ'i We have received some Cvum of what
the witness said to others, and there is some doubt in
my mind whether what he said to others was 0~t‘§.

I think Mr. Townsend, you had better strike that :
out, It is safer,

MR, TOWNSEND! The statute is very broad and
sweeping. It says whether present or absent,

THE coum'é That is another pnpduu-. You
are coming down to the guilt of the defendant, I agree
with you there fully, but whether the statements made

by the witness to other people not im the presence of

e e D i

the defendant are competent as against him, is a very
different questien.  You can show what those others

d4d in his absense by showing it was done pursuant



to his proourement or done with his privile
rule of evidence is a little bit a1fferenta- we do not
want teo stretech it too fare-- it ‘-mu llo‘ more wm
to strike it out. i
MR. TOVNSEND: Then I will withdraw that.
THE COURT: gtrike out whatever this witne#s
has said he said to Bundi and te others 'nn in the
presence of the defendant., The acts of the OMI
are on an entirely different hl(l. |
WR, TOVNSEND: I would 1ike to offer a tramse
action that took place in one of the upper rw
at this time, |
THE cormri That does not prove sodemy, We
have tried another case growing out of this tm

tion, and personally I have some knowledge of the

general facts.. ' You muve ot'fouovucnoo tending to

show that the defendant was the propri‘tor of premises
in question, that he was present at the time and

place in question.. Ney, I take it that you want teo
show that sodomy was committed there, and with hias
privity and procurement.. What happened after the
exhibition, concerning the arrests of others really “
18 not competent as against this totoﬂﬁt. .and 1is i

not relevant to the inquiry proceeding against the



. tetentant,
MR, rm& Does your Honor n“
thooouuot d’thmtlmw.rh“'
that night, even ﬁm‘h they -tﬂn not 'l '
the very show would be some tooth.)' m
the character or the whole place and m
THR ooum': The trouble is I do not ﬂtm
that your inquiry goes to that, If lt'l“l. !'Tm ‘
probably permit it. Ask your question. V
MR, TOWNSEND: It goes to the separate act d. |
two people. .
THE COURT: Ask your question, and then !W
rule upon 1it.
BY MR, TOWNSEND: ‘
Q You say upon the second floor-- was that “m ;
the room, one of the dressing rooms, or how was it e“i‘ll
with the place? A It was connected with room No. 1, one
flight upe
Q VWVhat was room Ne. 17
BY THE COUPR';
Q Was this in an apartment? A Tt was in a roomy sort |
of a room, or coat room,
Q Connected with the living apartment om the nm M
A No, sir, Théy were not used as living nmtl. m



found the meeting om the nr; story on several
!,1 twvo occasions I may say. : :
o THE COURP: Prooeed.
BY MR, 'ronmn; ‘
Q Did you see two people im those roﬂf' A !m
Q Do you know who they were? A Yes, sir, 1
MR, WEISHAUPT: I object, me oo-uu- with m
defendant has besen proven. :
Objection overruled. Exceptionm.

BY MR, TWISI!’D;
Q Do you know who they were? A Yes, ltr'. :
Q Who were they? A Birdie Smith and ome William Hargie
now a fugitive from (_Julttn. . ai
Q A man and woman? A ’101, sir,

Q ¥ow, don't answer this until we get a ruling of the

Courte~ did you see what they were dotli?

THE COURT: You may answer that,
THE WITNESS: Yes.
Same objection, ruling and exception,
Q What were they doing? £ i
Objected te upem the ground that it is mot m
to be connected with the «r-imn, or that he was

present at the time, and it is not connected with



the orime charged in the imdictment,

Objection overruled.

Exception, A :
THE WITNESS: They were engaged in mo“
of the crime of sodomy. ‘ ‘
THE COURT: s8trike that mnor.nt-,-o state
facts,
BY MR, 'ronmm
Q State the fact, what you saw? A I saw one of the
women named Birdie Smith, she was im this cost roem, and this
man Villiam Hargle was sitting on a chair that ws tilted Mg
in room No. 2, of which there is a photograph, and the other
defendant Birdie Smith was down resting om her wﬁﬁ m
mouth, or, with the pemis of Hargie im her mouth. I m |
both defendants Hargie and Smith and pulled them into the :
hall in the presence of the other detectives. :
BY THE COURT:
Q Vas this occurrence visible frem the hall? A IO.‘
sir; "I could not say it was. The door was mostly elosed.
There wae a man acting as picket at the tep of the stairs whe

was thrown over when I went upstairs. He attempted to “..

me and I threw him over, A i ,2
THE COURT: This is mot connected with the cocurrs



MR, T

of the oho". N
THE COURT: Arp you going $0 comnect \Iil‘ﬁﬁl

the defendant,

i Sy

MR, TOWNSEND: He was proprtotor of the house

BB T T ing

there,

R Taa s

THE COURT: Yes, that may be, wut in order to " #
connect the defendant you must show some privity
upon his part to the prﬁoo“i& I di not “t’
say you cannot show it, if you can Q-l“i lt,! ut
the mere fact of the happening of thu “‘M‘
in a private room, unless you bring it m to the
defsndant would not be competent as w* hh.

MR, VEISHAUPT: Besides 'that, if your Honor plesse,
it 15 not alleged in the indictment,

MR, TOWNSEND: I thought it was sort of a side
show to the other performance. .

THE cotmﬁ If you will prove it was a side show
and 1f you will prove he had some connectien with
it, or if you say you will comnect him with it,
and establish his privity, then I will permit ﬁ.,



MR, TOWNSEND: I My he was the prqrtdm
he leased these premises and paid for them, uq m ,
18 & performance going on in an adjoining roem "h ;
the shw.

THE COURT: The law presumes ianccence in mﬂ‘

case, The law precumes he had no privity

with this 1llegal and eriminal act, Yew have to prove

he did have some connection with it, If you can deo
that I will receive it subject to your pr-nu‘ to
connect it. If you cammot, I will strike it out,

BY MR, TOWNEGEND:

Q How did you get there, fram where? A I procesded tr‘i :
the hall downstairs up & pair of stairs and I turmed amd there

was a man standing at the top of the stairs and he refused to

let me go further, and I threw him over and drove him to the
back of the hall and entered room No. 2 where I found m- man
and ;vnm in the act I have stated, I went them iato roomm |
No., 1, and the different pisoners were passed up to a..

Q Vere these rooms all comnected by doors? A Yepeee
room No, 1 and room No. 2 wers connected by a sort of a window
I think. They were not really comnected. They were om the
one hall and adjoining rooms, but I do not think they nn
connected.

Q Did you have any talk with Schaumloeffel adout Nl




Iltt.ﬂ A I d.ll't think I did.

0 Both parties were arrested? A !n, ltr; m u
™ awaiting trial in the Tombs, and the other is a MM
Justice.
THE COURT: Unless you cam comnect this mm
with it, Mr. Townsend, it is not proper to ncclvo
it,
| MR, TOWNSEND: I offer it as part of the rbl
- gestae. He is shown to be the prwtotu’ and master
of that house. Now, is he mot respomsible for what
goes on in that house?
| THE COUIR.; No, not under the laws
You must show this hfcidnt was owﬂ ﬁ*-
it. You have already laid the foundatiom by hlm
that he sold a ticket for two dellars and a w A
and that he recesived three dollars in bills, uul> that
he actually took that money, Now, go on and show
what that admiesion ticket permitted him te
w see~~- you are not doing that. You are lho'hg Bsome ~ _
thing which the witness saw by brushing aside someone “
upon going in., Presumably the defendant did not Ahn .

" what was going om there, If you show that he dia _ %:;



ceive it.
BY MR. TOWNSEWD: i
Q Vere tisher of thess people ssen nlktn with
man prier to that time? |
A That I do not kn ow, ‘
MR, 'ronmi Then T will umm i‘ﬁ M’
in that respect and ask to have it ntrhlll Oﬂ,
THE COURT: Strike out all that happened ﬁ
this room No, 2, and nntlml of lh JW‘_
disro:srd all of that tuth-a.
BY THE COURT:

#ir. I did not. I only went in with the party ﬁlt “ ﬂ

arreste.



CROSS WXAWTNATION: b x' ;

’gr Q You maid that m was a msun m L
| A Yes, #ir.
Ml Y

Vot Q By what, do you mean that he was never mm W “
after arrest he gave bail and skipped the bail, jumped M‘O
A T mean to eay he is a fugitive from justice now, I'hm u u &
. 1ndhhont pending in this county against him and ho luu -ncr b
shown up to plead to that indictment. We has fled to QM*M
Officers are now nsreh!nc for him im order to bring him “
trial.

Q And ¥r. Sheppard, 414 you arrest him? A  § cu.. ,

Q And where i he mow? A T understand he is tl ﬁo r-u
avaiting sentence, on a plea of guilty.

Q "Yhere were you while the show _vu going on? A rm \
in different parts of the neighborhood awaiting a -uan from
the people that were on the ineide as to whether or lot & orime
had been committed.

Q FHow many people were there with you, how many detectives?
A T suppome there were twelve or fourteen.

¢ Q Vow long were they there? A There were some of them
there all the time-- some there from 8:20 or from 8 o'eloeck,
the time that NDetective O'Bhea Tirst entered. 'l'h.l'. '“

detectives constantly covering the place, watching 4th' pmo

T e S A

goingin and out, to see whether O'Shea would give the signal or

not, -



about nine o'clock? A By nine o'eloeck, 7 IIOIIC Wm '
twelve or fourteen detectives.
VR, WRISHAUPT: T understand, if 3“:‘
please, that your Homor struck out the t.ﬂw 1!
reference to his going upstairs and mun m
and somebody refusing to allow hh to pﬂw
THR comrr T struck out all mg tutmu u ”
what he saw happening in Room Wo. li‘:nl(r :
ed the jury to disregard it,
RY WR. WRISHAUPT: i

Q Who s this man that would mot allow yeu v nhb
A Ono of the imato-. and he wae finea $10 in the Polt.' Mﬂw
the following morning.

Q What was hies name? A T do mot recall. There were
forty-eight men arrested and it is pretty hard to r.c.llllt.l-l-m b
names.

Q FHe was not in the employ of the defendant #0 far as you
know? A T would mot attempt to say so. '

RY WR. TOWNSEND: | ;

Q T show you these tickets, these four cards, have ﬁ“ m ¥

them before? A Yees, oir.



THR COVRT: Ts 1t conceded that the

was the proprietor of mo pluo in om yu
WR. WRISHAUPT: T will comeedsé that u"\

lessec of the duilding. ‘
THR COURT: And in po.nnloﬁ of the 'h.).liflt i

that disputed? i

WR. WRTSHAUPT: 1 dispute that he was im posses-
sion of the hall at the time-- that i1s, he was l.lno
of the hall but had no rights there.

THR VITNESS: (Continuing) Those are he cards
which 1 found in the possessiom of the lofmt QQ ”
night of Tanuary 20th at the time of the ntl. ‘nuoh
T have described and T identify them thm M
identification marks made on the b.lh.. my hiﬁll.ln o
at the time. T may say T had a conversation about
these cards, with the defendant.

WR. WRTISHAUPT: You have not been asked any
question,

7 have no objection to thie card being htroauoo‘ ‘
in evidence, but T do objeot to the introductiom of
the other three. J 4o mot see what relevanoy they
have in this case.

THR COURT: Are they offered in evidence?

MR, TOWNSRND: Yes.



THR. COURT: .-m;.r. see tu-. and,
stenographer th. one mmtn “.
Ono card 1e marked in numo m’
Yo, 4. ‘ :
People's Txhidit 4 reads as follows: T seh
Hall and Hotel. Lnfo hall and -"tiu nﬂ. m&
233 wast 33rd Street, Wew York, John m . Olo
Prop. . ' .
THE COURT: T sustain the objection as to the
others. 4

BY MR, TOWNSEND: -

Q You say you talked with the defendant .ﬂ'rum
arrested? A Yes, sir.
Q Where? A I talked to him after the dl“mmm
had been brought upstairs, as a result of f!nd'inc. ﬁm dbm
hotel carde in his possession, |
WR, WRISHAUPT: T object to'thq.t.
THR COURT: Yes, strike out the answer bo‘iuulﬁ
with the words "a® a result of finding, &e".
RTY YR, TOWNS®WND: _
Q State the conversation you had? A T asked '&““’ he
was running-- if he was also running a vhore house im 13th
Street.

WR. WRISHAUPT: T object to that and move to

“.



‘strike that ﬂt‘a..{'"
Wotion denied. Exoeption..

house there.

VR. WRISHAUPT: ] object and move to
out a® not material to this ocase. il PN X
PR COURT: T will strike it out. Tt is mot
important one way or the other. g o
FY WR, WETSHAUPT: _

Q The statement about shovs, brought on in Phile
that was the conversation between you and ¥r, M‘l i
oir. : 1

Q Where is ¥r. Fundy now? A To the bnt'of\izl‘A."_,:f?
he i® in the Tombs awaiting sentence.

Q Did you examine those premises, look um?' A M
thoroughly. |

Q D14 you go in the hall on the lower floor, the ground
floor? A Yes, eoir,

Q And 414 you see these charters on the wall, lodges ana
things like that? A Yes, sir, | ] »

Q And the meeting times of the lodges and singing .oﬂo‘ltoﬂ
A T 414 not mee anything about singing soeleties. T MM

vere Some men met there.



. )ME yeu see thefie. Sharters, Whape fremed
on the wall? A Yes. B
Q Knd upstairs also, what was going n

o large hall at the time of the arvents anyiNsudt A
Q Yes. A Tt looked 1ike a small sfhed riot tom
Q Vas a singing soclety meeting upstairs w
A Yo singing going on while T was there. R e |
Q Did you go in there while the meeting was tl pumm  "‘
A T Aon"t know if you would call that - lcotlu or l"-w” %
looked like a riot. v ; ff
Q Nid you go in there? A Yes, sir. %
Q Yhat was it, a lahor union singing soeiety or wu ‘
A There was a lot of men there trying to get out or winde
and doors and fanlights and ovory other plm
VICTOR A. ¥WATSONW, called a® a witness i behalf of ;
the People, heing duly sworn and examined, testified as » S
follows: ’m
o DIRRCT RXAMIWATION WY WR, TOWNSEND:
Q Where do you live? A 22 Yenox Avenue. | \ ‘!

Q What is your ococupation? A YVewspaper work.
Q Connected with what paper? A The Wew York Ameriecan. ‘
Q

Do you recollect the night of the 20th of January last? - !



A T do,

Street? A Yes, sir,

Q DNid you go in there that night? A T dids |
Q About what time? A About half past eight. - b
Q Anybody with you? A Wo, | :
Q WYhere 4id you go first? A To the bar room nt# ﬁ
in the front of the ground floor. ;
Q What 414 you do when you got in there? A“ T ”i“
acquaintance. ‘

Q What vas he doing? A Fe was standing st the bar

talking to the gentleman who is sitting rldlt W l.‘-

Q Talking with the defendant 80!\.-100"01” A m. “ﬁ.
in a desultory sort of way.

Q What happened when you stood there? A T spoks to my
friend;a few moments later he called for a drink which m
served by this ¥r, Schaumloeffel and T was introdiced to ¥Wr,
fchaumloeffel by my acquaintance ﬁ* told ¥r. Schaumloeffel

that T wae all right and T spoke with ¥Wr. Schaumloeffel.

| Q State what you #aid? A | asked him what time the ”rv
formance was going to begin and he said that it would h‘glu in
a very short time. Fe then spoke to my friend. I do not
rocﬂl exactly what it was he said, and | asked him hw” it

would be.



with the defendant. T asked him how much it vnu '
RY THR COURT:

A Yo, sir.
TH® COURT: Prooceed. : et
TH® WITURSS: And he told me 1t would n“ N
plece. ’

RY ¥R, WRISHAUPT:

Q Who told you that? A The defendant. Wy mm.
"Let us wait a while before we go in", and a short thﬁ wnsy
we decided we would g0 into the rear room where &c ' _
subsequently took place. Wr. Bohs-.IOQﬂ'do when '0 MMr.‘ !
we Were going inside, ®aid that he would take us in, Qﬂﬁ;‘
d414; he walked from behind the bar, and the exit from WW
was in the direci¥sn of he rear room, and within a few feet of
the door that led into the performance room. There m a man '
named Schaefer standing at the door and ¥r. mllm cme
with in with us and 7 asked him 1if he would take the mone) ., “z
he said, "Oive 1t to this man", and T gave the $10 for wsm-n
for two, to ¥r. Schaefer. That was all T saw of MOM A
at that time. T saw him about the time Set for the ratd. m |

one called to Tack Sheppard, who was the announcer on the Stage,




and .lh‘oppcﬂ left Aho stage or the wing of the stage "
the rear of the room, where he had a hasty tdﬁ vlt‘h

if he spoke to the others or not, and a short time m». M
the raid had taken place, that is when the ecounty dnuwu. N
entered the room, and before most of the people in the 'lm‘
realized a raid was on, several of the county dnlto,ctinllim ! - e
to me and 7 maw that ¥r, Schaumloeffel went hehind the dbar, l
put on hie coat and passed over to a table where his wife was
eitting, or a woman wvhom 7 helieved was his wife, We ”,“ some~
thing to her and then made a very hurried movement mm .‘ '@
door which led to the oellar, wvhere he was caught by Mv ' &
Detective Dillon by the collar and drawn back, and T then had & \
conversation with it. 7T said to him, "Thie is a hcnl.f & nice ; %
me®e® you have got us all in®"., T spoke to him for the nmn of f
finding out what he had to .'q--

MR. WRISHAUPT: T object to that and nﬁo to

strike out his explanation,

TH®W "OURT: Yes; strike it out.
A ("ontinuing) At any rate, I said to him, "This is a hell
of a nice mess you have got ue in", and he said, "Well, I
thought it would bhe all right”, and that was about all 7 had teo

say to him at that time.




J

© BY WR, TOWNSEWD:

Q Then he was arrested? A um“'ymt

saw him again but not to talk to,

Q Vhere 414 you see him? A Tn the station mq,g

Q Vere you in the hall during the porfom?"..’
oir. £

Q During all of the performance? A Yes, sir., v

Q Di4 you see the defendant there? A T saw him at the
time 7 have already said, when Sheppard was odlo_l from ﬁo |
#tage, 7 saw him then, because he was standing right ntﬁﬁuA :
two people _t.hut 7 saw, that T looked at,
| Q VYere you there when two women appeared, colored ﬂl” ‘
A T was, Wy

Q Yhere were you during the performance, What pﬁ?of M s
room were you in? A T was in about the centre ofthc N-.s |

Q Man you indicate there, and show the jury, so tﬂ%’ the
jury can see about where you were?” A Why yes; Jjuest lhoﬁt'
here (Tndicating on one of the photographs). This is the onih_ .
of the room (indieating).

Q Vere there many people in the room? A Yes, #ir, -’.)q“
two hundred and fifty or three hundred.

Q And you saw Sheppard, 4id you? A Yes, sir.

Q Yhat 414 he d40? A We was the announcer. We announced



A Why, they came on the m.. V¥hen they mﬁ vnl ‘
they wore short skirte and waists which they M .ﬂ\& an
shirte, They removed them, and then they r-"o‘ M
and appeared in simply their shoes and stockinge, \ o
on the floor of the stage then and were about to Mﬁﬂm
of sodomy when-- | e ‘
VR, WRTSHAUPT: T object and move to -tﬂt?y that
_ out, il .

RYMR, TOWNSEND:

Q State what they d4id, what you saw them do? A m
were sbout to commit an aet of sodomy when the crowd ro&w
that they could not see what was going onm.

YR, WRISHAUPT: T ohjeect to ‘htt and move to
strike it out, |
TH® COURT: Yes.
BY TH®R COURT:

Q You may state what they did, what ym actually m M
do0? A One of them laid on her back on the stage and om
her legs, parted them, m‘ the other one placed her hn‘ m
the legs with her mouth close against the bdody of the m M
was lying on her back. At this the crowd yollod that M m



L

“of the other woman, and the other woman placed her hM 'iﬂ'm

and put in the centreof the stage., One of N t‘

to stand for that, began to ory out, and the flag 'u ﬁ, ‘?ﬁf“l
into the wings, and one of the negroes produced a tnoﬁl. M ‘
chair and wiped the table off herself, B5She then laid on 'lur "{;",f ':
back on the table and the other negro got on t.ob of lut vlth hﬂ' '

face towards the table down, and placed her hou MM,

her legs. The audience vas not ntutlod with this p‘ u m
chap in the audience who was called "Butcher" Sam Ml‘ i’ lﬂ‘
the stage. He took the right leg of' the woman who vu nyan ﬂ
her back and pulled it apart and said, "T will see this is ow
the level by Tesus™, and he pushed the woman's head still
further in and held the head close up against the otmr' woman's
body. T moticed that when the woman raised her head, the bottem
of the other woman's body glistened as if it were nt.'.‘.‘. after
that performance was over, or rather, just about as it was ﬁﬂ'o
Butcher Sam announced that he was not satisfied up to date, Il‘;»
he had to be satisfied, and one of the negroes umtmum e

trousers and he jumped up on the table and there was an act of



time 7 mpticed that Putcher Sam's penis was 8160 (

After the negroes left the stage, this Putoher u
the audience and they asked him how he 1iked 1%,
"By God, it was good", and that was sbout all ﬁm

particular act.

CROSS WXAMTNATTON BY VR, WEISHAUPT: e
Q You said you met an uo“luuo in uu '. ﬁ
introduced you to ¥Wr. Behu.lebfhl. the WM’

eir. , i

Q Who is that? A T don't recall his l‘u

Q Do you see him in court today? A Wo, T do not M
in court.

Q Or outside of the court, either? A Wo, T have not
Seen him today. |

Q Will you describe his appearance, please? A Yes, I' .Q &
describe him in a way. He is a man somewhere around five feet
nine, ntinor stout, with a ruddy complexion u‘blnlm ‘

Q You say that Sheppard came down off ,tho'ltuoéf' A M
sir.

Q And had a conversation with Mr, who? A m

Q FWe had a conversation with Schaefer, Qm lw



b § 'IQ” !
than that. T was about twelve or fifteen feet I should m

were they, five feet or ten feet? A Wo, Ir;

Q !o'utonorﬂftnafntaufr.ﬁ.’ G
¥R, TOWNSEND: Wow far were tho:fmqﬂﬂm"
THR WITVRSS: Oh, withinm two or three !’.ﬂ.
BY VR, WRISHAUPT: e

Q What time was this? A This was approximately 1':0!'”.:'
the time ®et for the ratd. B

Q Put {t was after the performance was all over? A On,
no, no, the performance was still going on, but the performance
was ended very abruptly.

Q T mean when Sheppard came down from the stage, the
performance wa® all over st that time? A Wo, mir.

Q What wae going on then? A The negroes were still on
the stage, that is, not the same act. There was a n;crd woman
and a negro man in an aet of fornication, -

Q T™ie was after the time that these two negro women had
heen on the stage, afterwards? A Yes, sir,

Q ¥Yow far away Were you froik the place vhere this qn“
conversation was ¢oiu¢_ on? A Twelve or fifteen feet.

Q Any people between you and the place where it was going



on? A Yes, sir, a few sitting down.

Q Did anybody in the audience at any time m “
to stop t.hu performance vhile it was going on? A W M.-
of it, or tho whole performance? “ ; H

Q Yes. A Yes, sir, practically the entire mﬁm‘n b "f'
their actions 414 result in stopping the use of the hoﬂm i
flag a® a Sscrubbing cloth, o

Q T refer to the performance itself? A Wo, sin

Q VYobody made an attempt? A Wo, sir, |

Q What aé you think would have been done to anybody who '
made an attempt? A ‘That would simply So a oconelusion. :

WR., TOWNSBRWD: T objeot.
Objection sustained. TExeeption. :

Q The audience were rather excited over this porfom;
very much interested in it? A T don't know whether tflo: Were-
excited or not. T certainly was not,

Q Vher- was the beer drawn from, you say they were giving
beer around? A Yes, sir. |

Q Vhere was that drawn from? A ] saw some Oof it drawn
from a pipe that sesrmed to run through from the bar room and
the rest of it J don't know where it came from.

RY THR COURT:
Q Reer drawn through a pipe? A The key apparently m

right close up against this partition with the spiggot sticking



right through it.
TY WR, WRISHAUPT:

Q Schaumloeffel never had your "‘." ig his w
A Yo, sir. A

JOHNN WeMAHON, called as a witness uwum

People, being duly sworn and ow-lnuo ”I“ﬂo‘ U hm
‘DTRRBCT RXAMINATION RY WR., TOWNSEND: N

Q WVhere do you live? A 232 Rast 157th Itrﬁ‘.

Q Vhat is your oecupation? A Clerk. |

Q Do you recollect the night of the 20th of w'
A Yes, eir. ) _ |

Q Do you know the hall at 231 & 235 Rast 33rd Strest?
A Yes, eir,

Q Do you know those premises? A Yes, ®ir,

Q VYere you there that night? A Yes, sir. vrar F =

Q look at the defendant at the bar Schaumloeffel and
state whether you saw him there? A Yes, sir, f-fﬁ
Q Yhere war he when you first saw him? A Behind the

bar.
Q PBehind the bar? A Yes, sir.
Q Di4 you say anything to him? A Yes, sir. |
Q What 414 you say? A T asked him mli T go uoih to




m the enoker. ki 3

Q State first what you NO to hh? A !
T go in and see the smoker. '

Q vm.t 414 he say? A TWe said all right, -n“
me out, T was a waiter in there. T took a dray ml!
ing on the tables. .

Q We ®said, "Yes, if you will help me out*? A. _

‘Q Yhat 4i4 he say further? A We tol"li me QM i :

AR T T
,".‘~ ',‘I'j‘, )
" i
R 1y

Q WYhat did you do? A T went around and MM

and help him out,

tables.
Q You went around and waited on the tadles? A
Q TRefore you. got in 414 you see a man um :A’:A
A Yes, sir, he was at the door. | )
Q "hat 414 the defendant say to him? A We said, "th g
go in; he ie going to wait on the table". '
Q Yhat 414 you Ao when you got in there? A T took a tray
and went around and got ordere for drinks.
Q In the theatre room? A Yes .Anir.
Q TIn‘the hall?” A Yem, 8ir.
Q 7T show you a photograph, People's ®xhibit 2, is that
the hall? A Yes, eir.
Q And you got ordere® for drinks, and where 414 yh fll& “k

orders? A Right at the door there was a table thﬂ".t “ ‘



the door, they had drinks there, and we filled the o)
the table and them T served them as 1 took them away §
table. i »
Q Did you have any further talk with the defendant? i
A Yo, sir, not after that,
Q 8o you 2aw the performance? A Yes, #ir. _
Q Did you get any money for i1t? A 7 had a dollar's worth
of change and T held that, 2
Q@ That was what you got from the audience? A '.‘o ﬂr& :
T got a dollar ®r change to hold in my pocket and ¥ WM
Q@ Yho gave you that dollar? A ¥r. m-—xom A

Q The defendant? A Yes, pir,

e

(Yo eross examination,)

R

TORA S¥YTTH, ecalled a® s witness in behalf of the Péople g
heing Auly sworn and examined, testified as f‘ll"‘: |

NTRREST WXAMINATION BY ¥R, ‘rmm_ub: |
Q There 40 you live? A Philadelphia. 'é

Vhat do you do for a living? A CGeneral housevork.

Do jou know Rertha Tohnson? A Yes, ®sir.

Yhere dces she livg? A nummi..

Do you reevllect the 20th of January? A Yes, sir.

o £ L& o o

When 414 you leave Philadelphia? A On the 20th ef



Q Anydody with jou? A TRertha Johnson was .v!ﬁ»

Q Who else came with you on the train? A Wr, B

Q Pundi? A Yes, sir, i

Q A colored man? A Yes, sir.

Q We dbought your tickets, 4id he? A Yes, #ir.

Q When you got horo‘ to Wew York what time was 1!‘.”" '
A Vhen we got to Kitty Kirkim's, it was twenty minuter ﬂ .t&

Q Who 1m Kitty Kirkum? A 1 don*t know, only a White

Q Where 414 she 1live? A V¥r., Pundi -.1‘ ﬁoi
Btreet and 2nd Street. |

Q Yho took yoffi up there? A W¥r. Bundi.

Q Who 414 you find up there when you got there? “ A l
found Xitty Xirkum and Annie Rernarc.

Q Any men? A Vr., Sheppard,

Q And Yr, who-- anybody come in while you were there?

A Vr. Schaefer came in while we were there.

Q ¥r. Schaefer came in? A Yes, 8ir,

Q FHow many women were there, or came in, or were there when
you got there? A T don"t know. There Were a lot of jun in
there.

'Q White women? A Yes, sir, all white but Rertha Johnsen

and myself.



A Yes, #ir, the only eolored women.
Q You soon left there? A Yes, oir,
Q Where did.you go? A To a mo@ ,
Q What was in the saloon, what wae behind the axmv ‘
What was oconnected with the saloon? A Ve went untﬂﬂ mn " .

first went there. :
L4

Q Yhen you went into thé saloom 4id you see the defendant

here Schaumloeffel?” A WNo, eir,

i

'Q You went up where? A Upstairs in the second story

front room.

)6

Q Vell, what happened while you Were up thon' 4 'hp
not anything happened while wéd were up there. .

Q Wob“y say anything to you or do anything? A ﬁ, I!q
nobody Aidn't say anythéng to us only ¥r. Bundi, l i
®Y THW COURT:

Q DiA you see the defendant? A T did mot see that man
but 7 saw a lady up there.
RYMR, TOWNSREND:

Q FWow long 414 you stay up thero‘? AT lotuod up there ‘
until we came down on the stage. |

Q That wae about what time? A 7T don't ruﬂhor.lur‘.
what time 1t wanm,

Q Vine or tem o'elosk-- look at this pioture of the hall

-



. fere-- vas that the hall? A Yes, #ir, somethi

“"L

Q DPid you go up on the lh‘f?“!bﬂyi
Q What 414 you 4o when you got up ﬁoﬂ?

clothes off,

and stockings, |
Q Then what happened? A Then T lald onﬁpw
. Q Wow 414 jou lay on the table, on youqur
A T laid on n-y hack., . ; i
Q 0n your back? A Yes, soir, b
Q Yhat 4id Rertha do? A Uhg 1aid om n'. | (i
Q Yhat Ai4 she do with her head? A !ﬂﬂm wQ
towards the audience. e
Q Taid out towarde your feet? A Yes, sir, ‘
Q Your head, where wae your head? A Wy hon@ 'll~bt'ﬁ' Gq
thie was (indicating). KA g 1
Q Yhere A14 she put her head? A Her head 'Qn.dbout thpﬁ.

part of me (indicating).

Q Where your private parts are? A’ Yes, sir, m
about there. ‘
Q DNid she put her head on your private iﬂ" A , *t ‘A
Q How cloee Aid4 she put 1t? A T don't know, !1'1;. 4'

oonld’ not see.



feel her head at all, T just felt the .."._‘ w '
| Q TFelt like her hands there? A fol. #sir. :
your il

Q Wow ahout head, where 414 you put that? A My tw
back this way. |

Q Vhereabouts were the vrivate parts of Forﬂl‘f i m i
along there (indicating). 2

Q About where your face was? A VWo, lir.{lnﬂ Mlllm
there. |

Q P®ut, hetween her legs, though? A Yes, nw

Q ‘!hile you were doing that do you ne'llm m
coming up on the -tngo? A Yes, #ir, T heard UOM m W
on the stage. :

Q Yhat wae saiqd ‘and done then by the man that m ” “
the stage” A T couldn'tjuet hear what this man 'l'ij iﬁ!ﬁn m
afterwarde he said-- when he firet got up T couldn't hear dut
afterwards he said, "7 would like to try ou;\o of t;holv lirl‘l to
fee wvhich one 18 the hottest®, :

Q Ve said he would like to try these girls? A Yes, sir.

Q What A14 jou ®ay? A T 414 not eay anything.

Q What happened? A Tertha was up then and o was I and
he grabs Rertha and lay® Rertha on the tahle.

Q What 414 he do to Rertha? A WHe was there with her a



little time and then he got up.
Q What happened then? A TFe sald, °T don't

will try the other one".

0

me on the table. )

Q What 414 he do to you? A He was there with me qli‘lﬁ‘t,d
vhile but not long, not more than a minute. 7J anm i
he wa® there that long.

Q You know what sexual intercourse is, you know MQ
having connection 18? A Yes, s#ir, ’ i o A
| Q Did he have connection with you? A Wo, sir, MM r
only right there and-- A o

Q Vhat-- d4idn*t he have connection with you there? .

A Wo, dr, he just only put it right down between my legs and
went away.

Q You never got paid for your performance? A Y was sick

‘é

and they were getting ready to send me to the hospital and
Rundi gave me #2, ‘ »

Q Wow much were you to get for the performance? A m'
dollars and our expenses over here and back,

Q Your sz;n-o- were paid over here? A .Yes, sir, é

Q TPy Pundi? A Yes, eir, ¥r, 'Blndl‘l!ought four tickets.
at the Rroad Street station. é

Q Vere you arrested that night? A Yes, sir, :



"K’)

Q Tefore you got out of the hall? A Yes, #ir.

CRNSS WXANTNATION RY WR, mmm,n:'

Q You said you were to be paid, vho wae to pay you?
A ¥r. Pundi.

Q ¥r. Rundi wa® to pay you? A Yees, sir.

Q Do you know Wr. Schaumloeffel, the defendant? A 'T just
know him since J have been arrested.

Q You never met him or saw him before that? A 7T never
iot or saw him until 7 lﬁ him in the I“i.tn»'l Court.

Q Yas his name ever mentioned to you? A VWo, sir.

Q 'ov;r heard his name mentioged? A T never heard his
name. ,

Q Ry Bundi or Sheppard or anybody elwe? A | never heard i
his name until T heard it from the woman. She said she was his

wife.

Q VYhere 414 you see her? A The first place T saw her was
in the dressing room, she was locking up-- seemed to me some kind
of a writing desk in this dressing room. |

Q A® you came in? A Yes, eir, she wae in this dressing
room when | came in, this woman was.

Q How long 414 she stay there? A She didn't stay there
no time at all, only just locked this thing.

Q A® soon a® you came in shewent out? A She 1@“ this



thing up and went out, ' ‘

Q Vere you ever !utéufuol 'l: '&‘;!“.f or tg

wvho wa® running that show that ul.nﬂ
Ob jeoted to..
A Wo, eir, only he said he was guu to ¥r. Wm

Q Pundi said he was going to Wr. unqur'!' A tﬂ. ous g

Q What 414 you understand by that?

Objected to.
Objection susetained. Wxoeption,

Q DNid you see ¥r, Behmlooffol in the hall at m t}qq
that you were on the stage at any time? A ¥ Mﬁt rﬂ“‘l !
secing that gentleman at .11.

Q And 41d you receive any aid or any assistance Cf any
kind from hh. at the time? A ¥Wo, eir.

Q Did you ever mee him-- 414 he ever tell you to de this
thing that night? A We 414 not, no, eir.

Q Vever saw him at all? A T never seen him until T
seen him in the Vagistrate's Court.

Q Yhen you came from Philadelphia were you informed by
¥Mr. Pundi a8 to what you were to do here in Wew York? A Wo, sir,
not in Philadelphia 7 was not.

Q VYhat 414 you come here for? A T came here to sing
and dance in a oconocert.

Q We told you you were to sing and dance? A He told me



oy,

1"%’3‘;3

fmtollﬂlﬂ‘“lﬁingm :
e D“'rwkﬂvaw_,tho..Wo-m-k:”

A

d toldme up in the dressing room.

Q Vho told you? A »r. Pundi,
Q VYas ¥r. Schaumloeffel there at that t'b'l;?' "

Schaumloeffel was not. ' : i L
Q Vas ¥Wrs. Schaumloeffel there at that time? : A me '
not. A i
Q That is the first time anybody told yom vhat m m\.
to 4o that evening,shen ¥r. Bundi teold you WMTQ

j were to perform this aet? A Yes, sir.

Q The first time jou were told that? ,(/M ”M
firet time T was told of that. Mr. Bundi told me tl )

p)

he was bringing me over here to sing and dance «1n a

Q Did you meet VWr. Schaefer here in Wew York? A T di&

The first T saw Wr. Schaefer was in this flat, Kitty Xirkum's.

He came in.

3
‘-}f
4

Q Where is that? A 2nd Street and 44th Street. -

el P

N Q Second Avenue? A I don*t know whether it was avenue .r
street-- 2nd Street and 44th Street ¥Wr. Pundi said.

Q Did you meet Wr. Sheppard there in 44th Street? A Wr. F

4 Sheppard? ‘

Q Yes. A Yees, sir, he was there.




And ¥r. Schaefer was there; was he? 'A
in. ; :
Q And ¥r. Rindi, wa® he there? A‘ Yes, dlﬂ
there. _
Q ¥as ¥r. Schaumloeffel there? A Wo, sir.
Q Vas ¥re. Schaumloeffel? A T didn™t mee o

Q Did ¥r. Sheppard or ¥r. Bumdi or Wr.

the wagistrate's "ourt,

Q This man who came up from the audignes, “ you mﬁ‘u
in ecourt anywhere, the man you say came up from m» ; |
you 4o not See him? A Yo, sir, T do not see m m
looke like him, . )

Q@ Di4 you look around among the audience while you Were
on the stage-- 414 you look through the audience to see Who was
| there? A Wo, s#ir, T did not. 7T would not know oio'n“ s R
sav him in here, who was there.

Q P;oplo sitting down gqround table® drinkt_n. beer?

A Yes, sir, they were sitting down drinking.

Q Anyef them standing up? A T den't reuenher m ‘ ;é




there was or not, but as far as T could see they '{‘1
down, | A b
Q Who told you that night to go on the lim and
this aot, this act with TRertha Johneon? A wr. mi. '

Q V¥r. RPundi told you? A Yes, ®ir,

to go ahead and do it right or something of the Sort? A ”!u.
eir. ek

Q V¥r. Sheppard told you that? A Yee, sir. "

Q@ Vhen 414 you meet Schaefer firet, in 44th mrﬁﬁh ata
you ever meet him hefore that? A T never saw ¥r. !M”
before that. :

Q Pefore you met him in Xitty Kirkum's in 44th Street?
A T met him in this Kitty Kirkum's.

Q Nia ¥vr. Schaefer say anything to you at that time? |
A Yo, sir, he only came in and spoke to all. We said good |
evening. That was all he said, : f"""w'« :

Q Did you hear him say anything to Pundi, or to tho‘cihor
people about the act jou were going to do that night? A We, .!P‘

T 414 not.

i

Q Did Wr. Schaumloeffel tell you to commit that ast?
A 'ol eir.

Q Did ¥rs. Rchaumloeffel tell you to commit that ast that

night? A Yo, sir,



' Q You never heard of thul !n oiiloctt-n i!ih
.lll. going to that plm'l A Vot fr- wr -M!ﬂ
T 414 not.

Q nid you hear of thq from wbol:-
tell you, before that performance ended that le. M“ :
¥r. Schaumloeffel was running that place; 414 you mﬁm ‘l
name mentioned? A T never heard either one of their m
until T heard it in the Vagistrate's Court. ;

Q Never anything was said to you about th; )Mﬂ.ﬂ‘gr ot
thies place being connected with the show? A Wo, sir. |

Q Wobody ever told you that? A VWo.. |

Q That the proprietor of the place was connected '“l ‘
the show-- Sghaefer never told you that and Pundi 4id nt and

Sheppard 4id not? A Wo, eir.

Foww J. SEHRPPARD, called as a witness on behalfl i

of the People, being Auly sworm, testified as follows:

!
.
}
e
3

NDTRECT WYXAMINATION PY WR, TOWNSEND:

Q VYhere do you live? A 306 Wast 13th Street.

Q Vhat is jour oooupﬂtion? A Vaudeville performer,
singing and daneing ecomedian.

Q Do you know the defendant hers Schaumloeffel? A Yas,

sir,



| .33ra Street. it i
’ Q When® A The night of the ratd.

Q The 20th of yanuary? A Yes, sir.

Q Wow d4id you meet him and who were )ﬂ

Q Schaefer introduced him as the boss of My
A Yes, sir, » - |
Q And an)thing you wanted he would let you hm‘! A si
A Yes, sir. ‘ i » ’
», Q VWhere wae he at the time? A TIn the WNP : i
- Q Pehind the bar? A Yes, ®ir, boh'tnd the bar ”Mﬁ il i
time. | ; Lo

Q VWhat time wa® this? A This 'j- nry o'prla‘ in ‘. '
evening. | | .

Q About what time? A T should judge between seven and
elght.

Q WYae anything said then further? A VWell, it was in
reference-- the ladies wished some drinks and ¥ told Mr.
and Schaefer said, "You go and see ¥r.Schaumloeffel and it _lvill.&‘,%.
be all right", and 7 says, "Yru shov him Lo me™, and MM

and he said, "Tet this Yoy have anything he wants", “ i
; .:,‘M;‘l"ul e g

how T knew it ".. ¥r, Schaumloffel.



Q What happened mor th-m A‘“" m«

and erected a t-’orm bar in there, . tah 'tﬁ;

it.

Q Tn the hall? A Yes, sir,

and erected a bar? A ¥r. Schaumloeffel went lnl‘w
Q The defendant? A Yoi, eir.
Q Vere you there when anybody went in? A At the door?
Q Yes. A You mean spectators?
Q Yes. A VWow and ’tt;on. in and out,
Q Did you see any money handed over to m.w

A Yobody but ¥t. Schaefer. ‘
Q Had you ever been to that place boﬁn' A Yo, sir,

Q Vho hired you to go there? A ¥r. Schaefer.

Q Vhen? A The day of the performance.
Q Yhat 4id he hire you for? A. To 4o my singing and :
dancing turn. _ ﬁ
Q Anything said about heing the announcer? A After I |
got through doing my einging and daneing turn he eaid \_0 would
pay me #5 extra salary if T would go up and 4o the announeing,
and T 414 1t,
BY ¥WR. VERTSHAUPT:
Q Who told you that, Schaefer? A ¥r. Schaefer.

N




/m.,}
bt .

‘on? A }"ught behind that telporary bar in the hall.

N

BY ¥R, TOWNSREND:

a8

Q Did you go upstairs while the wemen were u

A Yes, 8ir, T went up to call each and every one G
Q You called them down for th;lr turne? A Yes, Iﬁ'
their turne, ‘ ‘
Q Then you took a place on the platform, on tlu WQ‘P

A On the stage, yes. g

Q And announced the performances? A Yes, sir,

Q Yhere was Bchaumloeffel while the performance was l““ 9

Q Did you see him from time to time during the
A Yee, sir. b s
Q Where was he? A Behind that bar, temporary mgm;.
with glasses o 1it. SRR

Q In th. h(l].? A YQ'. 'ir._.
Q@ You have seen Pertha Johnson and Cora Smith, the way
they performed? A Ye®, sir,

.

Q State what you saw them do? A T sa¥ them have their

tongues in one other's privates.

Q Wow near were you to them? A Within a few foof. three
or four or five feet, right on the stage with them, walking
around, .

Q They were without clothing? A Without olothing.

Q You saw the tongue, whioh tongue 4id you see,vhome




tongue? A BRBoth ot them, each Olu.

Q D14 you sec Bertha Johnson's tongue in. m pf 1
Cora Smith? A Yes, sir, and Cora Smith's in the pﬁm m
Bertha Johnson.

Q Who told you what to announce? A Mr, Schaefer. £

Q How many Aifferent performances ;oro tfuro? A Mlout’
pix or seven. .

Q Thie bar that you say was in there was in the hall, was

1t not? A Tn the hall where the shéw was going on.
Q Tn thie hall (Showing photograph)? A Yes, sir.

Q Vhat part of the hall?” A The rear part of it "Il"_'

againet the door, partition or whatever it was, t-’orm W.
a table with giasses on 1t. -
Q You plead guilty to this orime? A Yes, sir,

Q Ts that all the part you took in 1t? A Yes, sir

CROSS EXAMTNATION RY WR. WRISHAUPT:

o LN

e T

Q Vhile thie performance was goingon, a number of poopln'
were 8tanding up in the audience? A Very few were ltumu.n
up. |

Q Theres were some standing up? A Three or four, They

were not allowed to stand up.

R R W T @

Q P14 you get down from the stage Auring the performance

and walk to the rear of the room and have a oonvorntloi 'I* u




. Wr. Schaefer? A Yow and then, ¥r. Schaefer, yes.

Q Was vr. Schaumloeffel present whem those ¢
ogcurred? A Yes, #sir, wr. Schaumloeffel was ﬂjo'qng
lhpw commenced untlil it finished.

Q T mean-- you said you had “Moﬂntionoivlt‘h 'i'.
Schaefer? A Yes, sir, ‘l 

Q Nid you have any conversations with wr. wm-uma? ,
A Well, in regard to cigars and things. | | ‘

LI

Q That is all, ig regard to furnishing the people vlﬂ!

clgars and Arinka? A And drinks, that is all. e\ «»a’i

Ly

Q For the people on the stage-- do you know m M Nh‘lll ﬁﬁ,
the bar in the front room while that performance Was n!l‘ on?
A Vell, that J don't know-~ in the main bar room?

Q Yes. A T Ao not know, 7Tdid not see.

Q These fo'ding door here, they were folding doors?

A v,
v N 1
80 ol

A Yes, #sir, folding doors.
Q Teading Airectly from the har room into the hall-- were
they open or shut? A They were not opened or shut while J
was there during the evening.
Q T mean, the) were locked? A Yes, eir.
Q Tt would he impossible for any one in the har to see
into the rear room? A That T do not how. A
Q In order to get into this rear room you had io,m (.

through a door here into the hall and through another door im




the rear room? A !n.'lir.-

Q What vu‘ the last time that you M'r.
in that rear roo-? A The last time 7 saw him, ‘l‘l’-
was just as T went up to make the announcement o!'m
Viss Tohnson,

Q Where was he then? A He was behind his
table, or whatever it was, '

Q Behind that temporary--

AT

-

RY THE COURT:

l

Q You saw the defendant at that time? A num ;mmw

A i
; ¢
going up,

Q Vhat was it you uid when you made tho :
give us your words? A Tm regard to the nmu-m ’ (

Q Yes. A T said 1t will be an eat 'em up M& .
little bit of eolor,

Q That was all you said? A fol. sir.

Q Those were the very words? A Yes, sir.
RY VR. WRTSHAUPT: »

Q You say that ¥r. Schaefer told you what announcements “j
make? A Yes, sir.

Q At what time, {f at all, before the acotual utm
committed, were you informed, or 414 you become aware .f .0

nature of the act to he committed by these women? A N ‘M‘f

Al
'



~

"his office. A

annoujcement, ‘
Q Who told you what they were going to do? A g,.,’
Schaefer. ' | )
Q Did ¥r. Schaefer ever tell you before that MM
girls were going to do upon that stage, at any time? ‘ Wo, “
eir, i
Q When d4iAd vr. Schaefer first speak to you about this
performance? A Right thoro.ﬁ that evening. | .
Q That evening? A Yes, sir, that ﬂ.illll. bl ( ,“f:-w;; §

Q How 414 you come to meet him? A TRy geing around to

Q His office, where i®s that? A IIO*BOOOBC_M‘ ‘

Q Yhat is ¥r, Bchufor'vl business? A m‘ﬁ'l“j‘”‘d“‘. :

Q Theatrical agent? A Yee, sir.

Q NDid he tell you he was going to run that show that
night? A At that time?

Q Yes. A Wo, sir,

Q DiA he évor tell you anybody who was going to run that \
rhow? A NDid not tell mo.

Q Did you ever have any relations with ¥r. Wﬂ'
before this night of the 22nd of January? A Yes, #ir,

Q Tn connection with theatricals? A Theatricals.



Q uuod showse \w?erﬂ A !0 toolod for 41
‘and different olubs .na musto halls,

Q Vere you and he ever eonnoot.d in un; way with m
show of an immoral charaoter? A Wot as Y tnow oy :

Q Tike the show oeourring this evening of the mﬁ or

gy

Tanuary? A WNot as T know of,
Q When 4id you meet Schaumloeffel, that wmwl
A Yes, s#ir. : g i
Q WYhen Schaefer told you "any drinks you want to cot m

can get frolk him®*? A Yes, sir.

Q DPid you ever have any conversation with wr, MO

in reference to the act that these girle were jotu to *n" ;

A Yo, sir, 7 414 not. A :;

Q VYere you present at anytime-- did you ever hw m s ,%
conversation between Vr. Schaumloeffel and wr. Schaefer tn ::
reference to t.fze act these girle were going to commit? ¥ k

A ¥Wo, sir, T 4i4 not.
Q Mo you know who received the money that evening?
A Yr. Schaefer.

Q T™he price of admission? A Wr. Schaefer.

Q We -‘vu stationed at this door? A One of ths doors

going into the hall.

Q One of the doors leading into the hall, 'hl‘ lnl\l‘ m

he stationed at, the door that led into the hall from th.



or the door that led into the hall from the bar?
both, at times, inside, and at times outside.

Do you know ¥Wr, Bundi? A Yes, sir,

When did.you firet meet him? A That evening.

Schaefer introduced you to him? A Well, yes.

O ©£ o ©

Yhen Vr. Schaefer said to you that ¥r. Schaumloeffel

would let you have anything you deeired, or when he Cﬁl‘ i .;f}"

to beer and cigars and thingslike that only, 4id it not?

X

A Yes, #ir.

&

Q Wow, you are pretty certain, are you not, thut;yol saw -,, 4§

¥r. Schaefer in the rear of the saloon, in the rear of th. m‘_ 'a

. , W

at this table? A Mr. who? | .‘f;,‘_‘fi“
b 4 'n:'w:

'Q ¥r. Schaumloeffel? A Yes, pir, back of the table, *sﬁ

rary bar.

Q Coudd you sec him from the stage? A T ®aw him from the

ment and stayed on the stage a minute or two and then walked
back and asked him about the cigar and T 4id not get the cigar, 3

Q Are you sure this is the man you spoke to? A Yes, sir,
that is the man 7 spoke to.

Q At the time these girle came on to commit this sot, 414 v



the announcement. 1 said, 'Do-'t hfcﬂ that
went up and made the .uuounoclont.

Q T mean at the actual time the ¢ir1. committed i.;,
at the time you were on the stage, 414 you see him in M
A T aia. | } |

Q Vhile the girle were doing this thing oﬁ th‘ stage?
A Yes, 8ir, while these girle were doing 1t.

Q You say you saw him before the a't?‘ A Yes, sir, he wvas
there all the evening after the show ecnncatod.

Q How can you say that-- 414 you see hik all m ih’
there? A Did T-- 7 was right near him all the time-~ M w
the hall was my position until the show od-uon and M T
made the announcement T ltcppod off the stage and IGJI’.‘ 10 _
the rear of e hall where the table was and guuu and on ﬂﬁ
side wa® the door coming in,

| .Q Were ,ou watching the performance? A Very little
of 1t,

Q WYhile these girls were 4oing this? A While the girls
wWere, yen,

Q You say Schaefer took the money? A Yes, sir.

Q Do you know what beocame of the money afterwards?

A T 40 not.

Q Did4 yofd get any of 1t? A VWo, sir.



R Do you hwew whe uy U6 get SOF A BEP |
Q Did anybody ever tell jon '-né vas to get
Schaefer ever t.oil you do was to get 1t? A We l
me.

Q You say you were connected with ¥r, Schaesfer Wl

of the ocity, Aifferent halls, musioc halle;
Q What was ¥r, Schaefer's usual method, to rnﬁ halls,
for the evening? A That T do not kwow.

Q You say you Were with him at the time? A Well, T don

know as he engaged them.

Q %hen 4i4 you have any relation or ?onnnﬁén wlﬁ hll
with reference to a show or entertaimment of any kindMﬂ ’
one? A There were weeks-- the concert music halls sugh “ﬁ. ,
New Brunswick, Woboken and shall places. | 2

Q He would hire them? A Tegitimate play house, small
music hall on a small scale.

Q WYherever he could get a hall to give an ontorjlrimut.‘
he hired that hall and gave the entertaimment t'hort. did_n-‘i he?
A Te never d4id that, Tt would be a gentleman that 10“ the
place would go .ﬁo him and engage talent and he would send mr
g0 many performers, ‘ '

Q This show that oeourred there this evening, was ﬁ‘



given uder his suspices? A T do not hw. ‘
Q Or Schaumloeffel's mlml 1 a0 a‘l n

running 'thu. from the price ‘of admission? A ¥ a

)

Q Did Schaefer ever mention to you Wr, 8 L
name before you met him there that evening? A 'OC ®
met him, no. , LS

Q You never heard of Schaumloeffel bhoforo'i!llwti’
A Yo, sir. :
BY ¥R, TOWNSEND:

Q' You were there when Jon O'Shea went in? A '0#*”
was some many people went in T didn't know h.if of M |
d1d4n't know them. S

Q Describe how they went in-- what they d4id when they

got to the door? A They would go into the bar room, M
that were not im 1t, and irquire around and somebody mu bﬂu
them to ¥r. Schaefer and ®ay they were all right and ’ﬂw‘;’
would go 1in.

Q Nid you see them speak to soh.\-iocfrol and 4id you see
him doing anything? A 7T saw him around th’ro. T saw him in
and out, going hack and forth to the door.

Q T speak now of the audience, when they owme im, did
you see them speak to adm-x”omox’? A Some Bid the m
to him and would buy a glass of bger off tho‘btr. Gl



A They talked with ¥r, Schaumloeffel and then they 'Uhil .;
Q Oo in where? A 00 in to see the porfo:‘m i
Q DiA4 you see how they went in=- 414 they go in alone ‘.‘a,".i
414 "ghaumlceffel take them to the door, how 4i4 ﬁl.’ m :
where the Acor was? A Vr, Schaumloeffel would show .“ to ﬁ‘.
Q That ie what 7 wgnt to know, whether he showed them | '
where the door was® A Yes, sir, he showed one or two g.ntiulll',ﬁ;
and went in.
Q Did you eee any tiokets? A Wo, #ir; 7 414 not,

Q TInvitations? A VWo, sir, T 414 not.

REGROSS EXAVIVATION RY WR, WRISHAUPT:
Q@ You say you saw some people Speak with Wr, Mmloaﬂ.i{
in the rear of the ®aloon, in the rear of fhe hall-~ how many
people AidA you mee Mpeik to him? A TIn the bar room_.!oinq
from the har room into the h;il. 4
Q Tt wae not in the hall at all them? A GCoing from
the har room intoc the hall,
Q What time were you in the saloon, in the har room front?
A That wae very early hefore the show had commenced.

Q@ Yook at this pleture nﬁd tell me what this is on the

side, right opposgte the bar, lunch counter, 1o ft not? A 7T




"‘u»tm

every act? A Yes, oir.

oir.

Mhasy A S At Wy sl " s 20 A
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"

Q Did you kmow ‘mm*ntmn&nu
time until ¥r. Schaefer told m‘l’ A Wo, sir.
¢ ‘You 41d met? A Wo, sir. _ ;
q Wobody else knew except Mr. Bd-ofor what ’m:
¢oin¢ to he? A That T 40 not knew,

Q All the arrangements, as f.r as you mu m. v.n

¥r. Schaefer's, he made the -rrtuqontl? A u tu" an 1 m e

FATHAWTI®L M. SHTRE, ocalled as a witness im

fied a® follows:
DTRRCT EXAMINATION BY WR. TOWNSEND: S

Q You are connected with the Police Porce of this omix P \i
are you? A Yes, eoir, ﬁ

Q Captain of Police? A Yes, sir.

Q@ Vhat precinet? A 21st.

Q Vere you captain on the 2nth of Tanuary, 19047
A Yes, eir,

Q Of the 2Ist Prutnt? A Yes, sir.

Q Does that take im 231 & 233 Tast 33rd Street? A Yes,



G
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yes,

Q You have been there? A Yes, cli.

Q Do you know Stho.ffol. the defendant in
A Yes, sir. | , ‘ '
Q When was it that you first saw him to m- M
Objected to. Bl
Objection overruled. FExeoeption,

A T firet remember seeing him in the .tat“ﬁ m.o.
Q Vhen was thgi? A In the month of mmbor.“
Objected to and motion to strike out W
except evidence connected with this erha- ;
Objection overruled and motion ‘denied.

Q Did you have a talk with him about 231 & m m W
Ttreet? A Yes, ®ir, i

Q State what he saild a® to what he knew about it?

Objected to as incompetent, 1?1‘01“‘ and im-
material.
Ohjection overruled. FTxeception.
A T had besn on the sick list for quite a while, for ‘nnﬂ;
three months. ‘
RY 'TH® COURT: ,
Q State what he said to you? A And during that mo! b

understood that--




the proprietor of the plaoce.
Q Referring to 231 & 233 wast 33rd Stmt’ ;
and he told me he was. I told him T heard that MZMM..“-'M
being hounded and he adritted that. iyl |
Q What 414 he say, state what he #aid? A He uu ”u.
and T spoke to him about the prisze fight that was rmno. ﬂ o
coming off in that place.
WR. WRISHAUPT: T object to that and move to
1t out. ~ _' |
T™I® COURT: Wr. Townsend, you are ”tqu'
this care. . i

-RY ¥R, TOWNSEYD:
Q Do not tertify to anytﬁlng that happened, bhut .“tt M

you said to him in connection with managing the place, that is

all? A T told him that he would have to run the plm. in com=

pliance with the law. T told him that he would have to be ocare~

ful as to who he let his place to. T told him that he would
get the mame show a® every other business man in the preeinet,
a® long a® he done what wae right, but 7 would hold m re ‘

ble for anything in theline of a prise fight or mﬂuﬂ ‘

Wyl ¥
2l



violation of lav that mc come off in nis pl ¥

WR. WRISHAUPT: T ohjeot ana lonip ,‘

that out, ] bl

Ohjection overruled, TWxoception,

Q Anything further? A No, there was um.

at that time, only that he promised that he would.

Q Wow, d1d you see him again after that time IDC'.“

of Tlm.ry? A That 7 do not remember. T do not m

" svelng him again until 7 sew him the night of Vhe wilk 3
Q Did you have any talk with him then? A 'ib.

(Wo eross examination.) p T8

MR, WRTSHAUPT: T move to ltrlko \hgt nﬁ
THR COURT: T -111 grant your motion,
YR, WRISHAUPT: Tt {e etricken out?

THR COURT: Yes.
THR PROPLE REST, L

YR, WRYSHAURT: The Aefendant move® your !!o.'r:
to dismise the indictment upén the sfoun‘ »ﬂrlt. that .ﬂ‘-}*"‘
no evidence has been iftroduced to econneet Vr,
fchaumloeffel with this alleged crime of -o«'-;p.

Second, that it has mot been proven M lo
counselled or progured or,Wﬂ that the ori
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be committed, or that he aided or abetted Or Eave
any assistance in its c‘i.ﬁ!on- {

That it has not been proven that he is guilty
beyond a reasonable doubt; that the evidence .litr.-- .ﬁ
duced in behalf of the People is just as consistent |
with innocence a# with guilt, and that it mi‘ mln
too violent an inference to be Arawn from the "“lﬁﬂ‘#?“
to presume that he in any way was counutod vﬂ; m‘

, 5

alleged erime of sodomy or in any way eonnected ’,/;«.‘
oriminally with the commépsion of this sodomy. |
Also, that mo testimony has been introduced to ’»
shov that ¥r, Schaumloeffel was an)thing more tr a
mere Spectator at the time of the commission # ‘o B¢
oerime; that no guilty knowledge or intemt om his ml’
ha® heen proven.
On the further ground that it has been shown by
the evidence adduced upon the part of the People that .«_.
the défendant was no more than a lessee of the bduilding;
that he was not the manager of the show and had nothing ':»:'
to do with the arrangements therefoy, and therefore

could not he hel” eoriminally responsible under this

o Ry S AR e

indiotment for what ococurred there.
T further move to dismiss the indigtment upon the

ground that it charge® two offenses, one the aiding and



abetting and the other counselling,

curing, and that that is li,moﬂ

defendant ha® been guilty of any erime ik .‘,‘. Y
the evidence, it can omly he that of tm1~ . u.. g

orderly house, and this indiectment would not ﬁm i_

conviction for that offense, that offense !Otﬁ!lut' o

included in this indiectment,
On the firther ground hat the testimonyin ’bm

of the People, If 1t proves anything at all, 'mﬂ -

merely that the dsfendant no‘lut“ or ﬂltﬁo‘ to : $

perform a duty, and the lawdoes not hold mlo OPMU"" n
nally responsible for neglect or omission of ;'lllyo

bhut omly for guilty connivance or assistance in the |
commigeion of a crime.

T also move your Honor to strike out that part of
the indictment where the defendant is charged with
having occmmanded,counselled or procured thie aet to be
done, on the ground that it ha® not heen proven that
by reason of any counselling or edunsnaim or tmdﬁmt
on his part, the act was comnitted; im other vorﬁ. it
hae not Yeen proven that they committed this aet by ‘
reason of anything that was said by him direotly or
indirectly. ; -'

Al®so move to dismiss that part of the indiotment
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; ! ' ) o _r-\‘,_ ) ? ! ,.:_,‘ ;':
abetted in the commission of th
™~ has not heen proven that in any

in assisting the partiecipantes.
, THR COURT: Wotion denied.

Exeception. -

The Tourt admonished the jury im

i

with Section 415 of the Code of e,“;ﬂ
and took an adjournment until tomorrow i

26th, 1904, at 10:30.
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~The Court met pursuant to ﬂjmmont.

MR. WRTSHAUPT: T would like to 'W"l n
more. Wy motion is that the ln‘!ohﬂ;&“
upon the ground that _'u has heen proven by “
adduced in behalf of the People that thie man
know for -mu purpose these premises Were “’- ‘

Wotion doulod. ho»tion.

. YRTSHAURT: T further move to tlﬂﬂ*'m

indictment upon the ground that mo act of w m :
been proven. A

.l‘{

¥Wotion Aenied, T™xeoception.

DEPRNDANT 'S CASE,

- - -

YILYITAY ¥ RAUSR, called as a vitness in behalf of
the defendant, being dul, sworn and examined, testified a8
foXlows: | ' —

DIRECT RXANTYATION RY MR, WRTSHWAUPT:

Q VYhere 40 you live? A 320 waet 15th Street,
Q Do you kmow the dofe_nauﬂ A Yer, ®ir,

Q Wow Ao you ¥mow him? A T was working for the gentleman.




’ ,'“ tM!u bar for the u’aundn'

1)'

'‘Q Were you Sn his h)l‘.} on ﬂlo ”ﬁ& of ml‘l’p'

ourrent jyear? A Yes, oir, T was,

o Q@ Do you remember that evening? A’ Yes, #ir, i
'@ Do you remember the performance that was being ‘lm
there that evening? A T remember there was a pcrfom u;f 3
there that evening.
Q ™A you mee 1t? A T 414 not wsee it,
Q Or any pai't of 1t? A Yot a particle.
Q Yhere were you? A Tending bar in the place. *
Q D14 you mee vr., Schaumloeffel that evqning? A ‘I'M
e ] him about eight o'eclock when he handed me my stock to -
afterthat 7 4Aidn't see him, We tended dar on th_o*vt' t‘tu ‘ |
Q Fe tended bar on the inside? A At the main b.rpﬂ’ i
T was tondlng bar in the hall. '
Q On the inside-- 414 you go into the place 1n'ld¢?
A WHave 17
Q Nid you ever go in the inside where the performance vas _,:ff
going on? A T wa® tending bar, : ; m
. mY THR® COURT: “;
Q QM you go inmide-- you were at the har, but 414 you . ?é
Wi

Aduring the evening go inmide? A Wo, eir. : : e‘gf;

PY ¥R, WRTSHAUPT:

Q@ D14 anybody ever speak to you sbout that performance ﬁ



that was ¢otn¢ to be held there that vnanp? A ‘ilo‘
Q You never heard of 1t or knew what it was QMM il

A T 414n't know anything until we were .rroltod.l ' ; e

Q Do you know the halls in the premises in amlnmt
A Yes, sir.

Q Do you know for what purposes those halle were llﬂ’ '
A Yes, #ir; for lodge rooms and meetings,

Q You never had any indecent exhibitions there or shows,
to your knovlodgoﬂ? A Yo, eir; meeting rooms and . so forth.,

Q Vention the names of some of the lodge® orl societies th“ '
met there? A Upholsters* Union, Tafpet tuoro' Uu!‘a. Mq 4
'urnn; Yoodworkers, and lnonl ndmber of tailors' owiw
tions, T Aon't know exactly their names or numbers, .‘.
Pinlandish singing societies, they were there t.t nlgh#.

Q Wow many people were employed by Schaumloeffel that
evening? A Two more besides me.

Q How many? A Two besides me.

Q VWYhere were the;?” A Two walters,

Q How do you‘ know fey were emplojyed by Vr. Schaumloeffel?
A That T could not ea), whether the)y were employed by ¥r.
Schaumloeffel,

Q PBut the) were thiyo' A They were working ihoro.

Q Ordinarily, outside of this specific evening, how many
people were employed hy Mr, Schaumloeffel? A Wyself, mc‘ ie
all, | |

he s
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Q Yourself alone? A- That is all.

Q@ Do you know in whose name the license for the

A Tt was ¥ary Schaumloeffel. : bibicihs o g

Q Who is Mary Schaumloeffel? A I understand “g‘?‘.ﬂ i

Schaumloeffel's wife.

Q What 4o you mean by saying you understand? A ~ is his

wife.

Q Do you know who received the money for the porf‘mado' ‘
'.th;t was ocourring there that evening? A Wo, eir, I do not.

Q D14 you ever mee any tickets for the porfonmi that
was oecurring there that evening? A Wo, sir ‘

Q You were in the place all the time? A 1:“&.‘

Q You must have known something wae going to om‘m i
that night, stme sort of an affair? A Yo, #ir; T started to ‘
work at seven in the morning and worked until one at noon d
then got on at séven in the evening and worked until one at
night, 7T never knew what wa® going on there~~ the mm ae
alwa;® there.

Q While lodger and singing societiesr were holding their
meeting® there, 414 Vr., Schaumloeffel ever go in and interéfere
in any way with them-- 414 he ever find out what the) were doing?
A Yes, #ir, certainly, he would have to go in to light up the A
hall,

Q While the meeting was in progrese he never went in?



Q Or looked in? A VWo, .tp( ﬁ:
B
Q The ocourrences of that nn!& are w

in your mind? A They are not.

Sghaumloeffel were in the front bar, e
Q You were in the rear and they were in front? A !u.
eir, |
Q What 414 you mean by saying he was at “OWQ.II ¢
inside? A 7T mean the main bhar, that is when you mtm
the street.

'Q In the saloon? A Yes, sir,

Q You were in the hall where the performance m m
A Yes, ®ir, -

Q And ch;\nlooffol. wae he ever in that hall, ineide,
while the performance wae going on? A». He gave me my -.“Ql
about eight o'elock and T had not l.ov; him sidee.

Q While he performance was going on? A T 414 not see
him, ’

Q@ 7 want to know about the time when the performance was
going on? A T have not seen him in the place at llls

Q You 414 not see hl- in that hall at all? A Wo, Qlﬂ

T got in there about eight ofelock,



Q Were you arrested when !chu.l.ooffll ll‘ t‘ho
were arrested? A Yer, sir, ' :
Q You were Aischarged? A T wae dlochlrtolo yes.
Q Wow, 414 jou see the two negro girle t‘hnt ”n”d;
to have committed an act Aduring the performance thtt ulﬁtﬁ'l"'“
A T 414 noﬁ ge~ any of the performance. | A ]
Q NiA you eee them in the police station? A Yes, .!l'f’
the morning when we Were in eourt.- ‘ 5 i |
Q DNid you ever see any of them beforo? A Yo, "l’c'
Q. Wone of them”™ A Yo, ®ir.
Q ﬂiit.o girles or black girls” .A No, rir.
Q Nr men” A T did not #ee any.
Q Do you know "™mii Schaefer? A T A4iA nof Mﬁhunﬁ!ﬂ
after we got arrefted-- never knew the gentleman before.
Q J1I Schaumloeffel had known Schaefer hefore that or ~bm
intimatel, acquainted with him, you probably would have m lj’
TITE "OURT: That will not do,
Quertion withdrawn,
PY WR., PESIHAI'PT:
Q Di4 you know vr, Sheppard hefore? A No, sir. it

Q Or Bundi”? A Yo, eir.



A

Q Tet me get that clear-- Schaumloeffel was

o | you were in the back? A Yes, sir. B
ﬁ R You 414 not ses him dr e bk &% &% sm
v A Vo, eir, :
Q Vho elee wae in the rear with you? A The “
Q Vho were they? A T guess one man's name 0‘
Wart and another one by the name of V.Tohunio Iddm\.'-; _
- Q VYhat sort of a looking man is Oscar Hart? A& m
- tall man about your build, i ‘
Q¢ Wustache or clean shaven? A Clean ﬁlvq.. i
Q Do you know a man by the nese of Peering? A mom
| Q Do you kmow a man by the nmme of ¥Villiam M" ,‘ 1
A Yes, #ir, A
Q What was he? A FHe ie an organizer for the United
Tailore-- Brotherhood of Tailors or something, some organigation
to that effect. \
Q They met in that bullding? A Yes, sir, they meet :
LS there. |

Q Te he acquainted with Schaumloeffel? A TI® he?
Q Yes. A T guees so,

- THR COURT: Strike that out, \

" ¥R, VRISHAUPT: 7 intend to conneot ﬁt M




'nt!o by toottl.n, of tlli'vtiuplo-
TR COURT: Tho cnol. cf ﬂhil vi
evidence. ’ p?

@ ~ ®Y THR COURT:

RY WR. WRTSHAUPT:
Q You have seen them together? A Yes, sir,

(No cross examination.)

S
testified as follows: |
DIRECT WXAMINATION RY WR, WRISHAUPT: g m
Q You are the wife of the defendant? A 1 cannot speak
very good Wnglish, o0 L
THR COURT: You speak well enough to bonunm
if you will only keep your voice up.
N RY WR, WRTSHAUPT: i

Q You are the wife of the defendant? A Yes, lil‘o

Q Do you remember the night of the 20th of W

A Yes, pir,

‘Q This year? A Yes, sir,



y .

o'eclock T come Aown md my hunund was in the m:.

Q WYhat do you mean by the hall? A In tho

T mean that, where the bar ise,
The bar room? A Yes, sir,
That 18 in the front? A Yes, sir.

L
What time 414 you come down? A Aftor ulno o'

O O O © ©o

down when the poop’h came out of the hall.
Q Petween half past nine and the time when the p‘ﬂo
came out of the hall your hushand was there? A Yes, Oiji'.
Q Tn the ffont, in the saloon? A Yes, 8ir,
license i® in my name.

Q Tut your hushand managee# the saloon for yo#?

ARO(A WXAVTIVATTON WY MR, TOWNSEND:

Q You were up in the room where the white girls



A T opened the rcu for the two “l.ﬂ‘(lﬂ'.
Q VYere there white girls up there .t“ that " ‘
sir, &
Q Yere there any white girle there at sn't A
some white girls, T saw some White girls going out.
Q 0Ooing out of where? A Out of the saloom
At what time? A At the time all the people m oﬂ.
When the arrest was made? A They were not m WM
They were not all arrested? A Vo,
fould not arrest all of ﬂum?_ A Yo,

How many 414 they arrest? A The two colored gi

They arrested you? A Yes, sir,

You were not doing anything? A Wo.

L o o £ o © © o

How long have you been married to this lll? A / M
yewrs, ; ;
Q DiA you ofter have shows there? A What 4o y“-m? ‘
Q Did you have showe often-- how often 414 you MQ m i
there-~ 4id you have a show once a week there? A Yot mry ;
week a show, |
Q Wvery other week? A Sometimes every month,
Q Prize fighte, 414 you have them there? A T M't Iui
T ¥now nothing ahout that., ¥y hushand attende to ‘tm.

Q Your husband attends to those shows=- that is e



not? A 7T don't know nmothing about the 'rlio ﬂﬁtﬁ,

Q D14 you ever hear of any prizme fights tnm' ;,"f T

that but T don't know {t,

Q Do you kmow whether they had meetings there, lﬁliQio ‘&~E
;ny time® A Yeer, #ir, every Aday. . ‘

Q They have meetinge there every day; by msaying ihng h.‘
ehows there, 4o you mean ocoasionally, perhaps onee & month
once a week they had entertainments there, is that ﬂnl ”
mean? A Oot meeting® every Aay, 7 know that and that !Q Il&

what 7 know,

JOWY SBCHAUMTLORPFEL, the defendant, called as
a4 witne®s in his own hehalf, being duly sworn and mtu‘.
testified as follows: |

DIRRCT EXAMTNATION BY VR, WRISHAUPT:

Q Oive your address? A 231 vast 33rd Street.
Q Te that your adAdress now? A Yo,
Q What is the place where you have your r"u“h M'

your wife and goods are? A 1685 Second Avmo.

L4



month before Christmas-- before "hristmas of last year,

%

'Q Did you have any conversation with him at the tﬁf? |
A That was the night when he ocume in first, Py o &
Q nNiA you have any conversation or talk with h‘hf"
A Yo, eir, |
Q "o talk at all® A Yo, | ‘ Vi
Q What Ai4 he do-- simply come in and have a drink?
A We came in first, that was the firet time he came in and
had a Arink and then there was no meeting that night and he
asked me for the hall-- 1f he could rent the hall that llﬁ‘o
Q He d4id have a conversation with you? A Yes, lilﬂ ; :
Q Just tell the jury everythkng he ®aid that night? A *.
asked me--
Q The fi.rot. time he came there? A Ye asked me if he could :
have the hall for dancing and singing so T said yes, 8o he t!k"
me what 4ay. Then he said he wanted it in the month of ,‘rmw.,-‘
80 T said, "You could not have it hefors the last-- pvery day
18 g meeting until the last Vedneesdal in the month®, e he ®said
all right, Then he walked away and T never sav him ®since, never
showed up ®ince until that morning of the 20th of Tanuary. .
Q ﬂo between thies Aay before "hriestmas that you had tllil

conversation with him and the morning befor. the 2ath of m




or the 20th of January, you never saw ¥r, mc_f" g‘ﬂ.ﬁ,’l ;
A Yo, sir. | ‘ e

Q Did you ever eege him before 'thi‘c -“-. that mm N
ooﬁveroutlon with him in Deeember? A Wo, eir. |

Q You say you saw him on the morning of the 20th cf ‘
Tanuary; will you please state to the jury everything that he
said to you on that morning? A Tt was adbout t‘n oi‘lo'oi:. in i
the morning he came. 7T was in hed yet and he came into the M ; 1
on the first floor in the front, }vhcro the 1,.“... were sitting~- )f
thut wa® my #leeping room. o

Q VWhere who were sleeping? A Yere the ladies were lhqt
night. 7T was sitting there. That was my ilgopiu nﬂ. .

Q FHow many rooms 414 you have on that second floor?

A Only one and two besides to put the clothes in;

Q What were thoné rooms used for? A Jf T have benefit
societie® or singing societies and have a ball or something,
benefit, then they nut their clothes in that room,

Q Yot mean their hate and coats? A Yes, #sir, hateand
coats, :

Q Go on and state what Vr, ﬂohcefﬁr told you ﬁh;t lorlltﬁ..
wa® there anybody present? A VYo, sir, A

Q You were alone there? A Yes, T was in hed then.

Q State what he told you? A We said T should have the

hall ready for the night, to put the chairs, about 200 chairs




g
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and tables around and there would be a good class of pe
come who would epend a little money and at the M

asked me where the ladies-- there would be .ﬂ?

“about ten ladies, and the) wanted to change ﬂuiri

they cmme on the stage, and where they can sit, \
before he went upstairs, ¥We looked in the hall ram. m “
hall wae connected, that they could ch.nc. their .“M'~
1tt 414 not fit him and he said if he could have that room 'hm
T slept in and s0 T said all right, put the folding Sodup and
T often ®it in there-- so, then, he walks away and he cume at

seven ot‘elook that night and walkes around -u saw th -

thing comes around and then he walks in to mee about m‘”'uv
tickets. FHe went next to the bar room between Nl‘m m )
and stood there all the time, and y was t'ondln. to ‘0 iu- .
wvhere the people came in; they alwaye tooi a glase of h‘r
hefore they first went in the hall, MBI i
Q At the time you had this conversation with him in
Necemher, Aid he ask you what your terms would be? A Wo, eir,
Q DNid you have any conversatidn in relation to ﬁ. terme
at 8117 A Yo, eir, _ : '
'Q Vas there any undorotsndim'n all abonut ﬂul..mntf
which he war to have the hall? A Only what he Coll.ﬂi-‘m““ '
would be #inging and Aancing and there would he Some M“lp |

Q T don*t mean the charaoter of the performance, T m
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in reference to the price, the terms? A Wo, #ir.
Q The money that you were to get? A’ '0. oir.
Q Vere you to get anymoney for.luuac that h

®ir.

people who desire to lease those rooms? A‘._ The m: ‘
gave them the hall for, 7 have a lot of nq;onm'm": o R
leave the hall empty, a day empty in a week, and ®0 !gm m
the hall ®6 T could make myliving in 1t. '

Q WYow 414 you get any remuneration?

RY TR COURT: R
.3 Q You give the hall free? A. Yee®, eoir, thom m
Q To enahble you to sell drinke to people that “Ml
A Yesm, 8ir. g v
RYVR. WRISHAUPT: :
Q At any time 414 you have any understanding about mt!u
;nythln; beyond what you got for heer? A That is all.
Q Yow, 4o you know Vr, Pundi? A T never saw tu-"
before.
- Q Tefore what? A T 4o not know him, |
Q When 414 you see him firet? A When we got mﬁ.‘. |
Q You know him now? A T kmow him now, :
Q You 414 not know him before you got arreeted? A No. :

Q NiA you know vr,Sheppard? A T knew him only A, ”QW"



v

7 4i4n‘*t know anybody from the aeotors, not one, even vhat was in

‘before.

the hsok there-- 7 don't know not one.

Q Come Aown to the night of the 20th of .Tmu';« ‘. 3"
know the girls that were there? A T never saw them before.

Q Vhite girls or black girls? A VNever. ou' them meOg

Q DNid you see them when you were arrested? A Only when .
T was arrested,

Q You never knew them before that? A Wo, sir,

Q Toming down to the night of the porforlm“..'ll_l you
tell the jur) everything you 414 that evening, deseribe your
movement® a® near a® you oan recolleet? A What is that?

Q On the 20th of Tanuary, in the ﬂonln&. toll’&h‘ j‘n
what you 414 that night, just Adesoride your -ovaloa“ 80 M
can tell where you were and what you were dolu tht llﬂi?

A About eight o'ecloock there came im only one after, mmr.
and ¥r, O'Shea came in at the same time with ¥r, JTones, a
detective, and “r, Jones, what T know, only ~ he 1# a state
detective~--

Q You say Vr. Jones, thke man who came with 0'Shea, was
a dtate Aetective? A SBtate detective.

Q Do you know that now or 4id4 you know it then? A That

night, T knew it that night,

Q You knew Tones was a State Aetective? A Yes, r_vy

Q N4 you knmow N'Shea? A Wo, sir, never saw 0'She




#aid he arrested you upstairs? A ¥r, Reardon?

Q Vever saw O'Shea before? A Wo , sir,’

Q Do you kmow ¥r. Reardon? A Wo, sir

Q DNid you see him on tho stand here, the dgt«uwh

Q Yes, A Vas he yesterday sitting here?
Q Yes. A T don't know him, only at that time, only T
faw him when T got arrested, yes. a

Q That is, you say ¥r., O'Shea came there with ¥r, Jones?

A Yes, #ir,
| Q And thut‘ you knew ¥r, Jones was a Aetective? A A
state detective, yes,

Q NiA they or efither of them speak to you that ﬁnhc
about going in to see the show? A If. Tones came over. We .
wa® about a dozen times before in my place and he visited up-

stairs that organizer of the union, ¥r, Nennis, ¥e intro-
AuceAd me to him the Aay before. He was the one what was in that
night that knew Schaefer, NDennis, the organiser, .M 'hfn he
spoke with NDennis about that night, and that waer all, T never
heard anything only, the night hefore he came in with ¥r. Yones
and he told-- ¥r. Dennis came in with Vr, Jonoo‘thontcfht before
and brought in Wr, Jone® and told me about it, that tomorrow
night will be a 1ittle lho'l in the back there and T shall see
that ¥Vr, Jones can get in, because he cannot bring him ‘ln on

acoount he hae got to go away to Roston. 8o, he came in about




eight o'clock or half past-- about eight o'ecloek, '“hiﬂ i
0 'Shea.,

Q The next night, that was the night of ﬁo M
A Yes, sir. The firet thing ho introduced me to ¥r. 0'&0. e
and they took a dArink and then WVr, Jone® called me on the “.bt
at the end of the bar, and said, "You kmow me?® T eaid, Yoo,
and he said, "¥ill you see that we can get in hoh, b § Mvo 'S
friend and he wante to go in right away®. T said, *J 'lu |
see about 1t", B0 T went to ¥r. Sochaefer.

Q VYhere was Schaefer at the time? A T 414 mot kmow mx 4

it is yet, what the price is, and he said, "0o and ﬂu Qt"
#0 ] went to Mr, Sohaefer and asked him what the pruo l. u‘
he saiq $2.50, o 1/ told that to Tones and he vent back to vr, .
0'Shea and told him and ¥r, O0'Shea ho said, “Come on M M “ ;;"lf"
in%=- just m f/ront of ¥r, Schaefer, and he sald, "You take the
money and give ?t to Schaefer”, and he makes me take $3 ‘ol;f |
him and give n:; to Vr., Schaefer and T said, "Here is the money
for this ¥Wr. !y'ppnvu' friend®, and he said all right and so he
got £3 anA handed to O'Shea a half a dollar hack. That was all
7 spoke.
Q Thie money paseed through ;nl)ur hande? A Wr, O'Shea
make me rdb it, that he gets in., |
Q Why didn’t he give it to ¥r, Schaefer f1

know y"nu for he wanted to get me in 1t, &u conld g
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“the same time but he wante to give io\@i .}mpl
 Wr. Schaefer. : . e | ]
Q What time 414 this show begin that evening? A
nine g'clock, ‘ . i
Q Tt began about nine? A Yes, sir, around m ’
Q Yas there an intermission while the show mn&” ‘ 1 i
don't know what that means, | e
Q Vas there a break, 414 the, let people out .uc l:.‘ m
come back and go into the show again? A VYo, noj; they all ; »

walked in and never came out,

Q While the show was in progress, these lu"o “mﬁ

doors-- A That was locked. }
Q All the time? A All the time. | ﬁ
Q Yhere were you heforeé the show? A Always “16‘ the i 1v1
bar. %
Q D14 you ever go in the hall before the show began? :‘}a
A Only once. x
Q What 414 you do? A T closed the skylight. There was ,J;
so much draught there, Sehaefer hollered out 1 should elose the
skylight. That is all T went in for. i .

Q WYhat arrangement 414 you make, or what arrangement 4id you

have for providing the people in the place, in the hall; the
. '( . ‘...,‘,»,4,,,”....» ;
large hall in the rear, with drinke, eatable® or cigars; or

whatever they wanted, what arrangement 414 you make, how 414 ;r




~ you give it to them? A To whom?

‘4n the back and T tapped the beer and put a tc w boxes ot otm ‘»1.‘

. A0 MLES - L oSN e s el e L s o el b g o 2Lt YRR

Q To the people in the back, if they called fo"ry‘:
A T 414 not serve any in the back, L
Q Did they brln¢ it from the mnev A Yo, ur; m f:
nine o'eloock Bchaefer hollered out T lhould get the MMl
bnculo he 18 going to close the door. Ho T sent tho

and tapped the beer down stairs and there is a fuut M runs

zn the back and three bottle® of whiskey un tho back ql l sent
tho bartender and two vglton were ouu” u,,.., Mm & . & " ﬁ{
served that. ' co T i e
'Q The bartender was the coﬁtlpu;! w’rmyﬂ”
the stand? A Yes, eir. | el

. '
Q The folAing “oors were open before the nrtouuqo M“’%

A Yo, sir, they got closed about half past seven, The Mrm
closed. The folding door, because there wae another door tor‘
everyhody to walk in, %
Q You sent this stuff in through the other door? A 'lrol":%

it in the other Acor and that was all.

el

Q Vere you in this hall in the rear at any time while
thies performance wge® going on? A VYo, u{r.

Q Did you see anybody on the stage? A '0. 'tl’.

Q Di4 you see anybody on the Atage when you m u m

to close the skylight? A There wap ndbod) on the Dm :ﬂ‘.

v
" l‘v 1
i i




~,elomed gnd T don't ¥mow if it started right away or not but J

Q And vhere were you all Jn t while this be
going on? A T had a singing society upetairs and
time in at the same time, ®#0 T had to .u.m to mu T

‘.r.

pide Yar all the time. ,

Q Yho was tending to the tar in the rear? 'A M‘lr-
tender.

Q That is who? A V¥r. Krause.

Q Vow, when 4i4 the show get out, close? A Af't'or-m
o'elock, ‘

Q Tt lasted altogether how long? A Vell, T m't

remember,

Q About an hourfa | kmow about nine o'eloeck tilo WM

know it wae after ten when the)y all ocame out again,

Q And 414 you go into the hall after the performance was
over? A Wo, sir, |

Q Yhere were you arrested? A Rghind the bar. They took
me hehind the har,

Q Did anydody at any time ever tell you that there was |
going to be indecent acte o_:ttoﬂ that evening, that thl. was
going to be an indecent show of any *ind? A Wo, wir.

Q Did you ever know that two girls were going to. m QI “1‘
vl o )

e



A

‘exactly ®a).

Q , You ever suggest that moh a thing M‘ d
that evening®? A Yo, eir, i
Q DNid you help with the people in the show M#\g’
closing the fanlight and then loek the door, while % élu_
in progreee, Ald you help them in any way? A ¥o, ﬂt‘b
Q DiA you go up to the dreesing roome? A T never went
upetairs, | ‘
Q@ Where were j0u frou nlnq,&'olo& until. tﬁ o"’lww j

you were in the saloon? A !n. eir,

Q Yhere weres jo0u bcfore that, from eight c'um ok SR

nine? A There was alway® people ooming in. T wae always
the har., |
Q You tended to the Tar? A Yer, eir,
Q 7Yook at thie picture and ;ttto what this counter ie h."
rieht oproeite the har? A Tt {e# a lunch ecounter. :
0 "h.o tendeA to that lunch counter®? A Thers was neo 1“
that night, :
Q Yo lunch that night? A Yo, eir.
Q Yhat time ‘Md your wife come Aown. etairs=- 11..*:.!‘0",
come dm stairs? A fhe was in the bar room, et

Q At what time 414 she come down? A "11. T



going on' in the back? A Yes, eir, : ‘
Q Vere many of those people kmown to yon or 'm gmq“m
acquaintances? A They were some upholoton -ituu thoro : "
the tabhle.
Q Did you know them? A Yee, #ir,

Q What®were they sitting around,tablee. in the mﬂ “

A Yes, #ir, they were sitting there around those uum
Q Did you hear the testimony of the witness for ‘tM ﬂ'ﬂv '
secution, Wr. Vatson and Vr, O'fhea, 4id you hear ﬂn ‘
of thd.o two witneseen? A' Yhat ie that. .
Q@ Do you know ¥r, ¥atson, the cmlmn wim ﬂu mm.
who waf on the stand? A T saw him that \ﬂthtn v
Q You ear him come in that night? A Yes, ®ir, .
Q NiA you mre~ him here on the vltu&- rtand? A Yes, eoir,
Q@ You heard what he testified to? A Yes, qlr.‘.-‘ ; ,~~”: 4 '
Q DPiAd you hear Vr, 0'Shea, thies detective, m m I.l’
A Yes, e#oir, '.
Q You heard what he testified to? A Yes, oir,
Q You heard Yack Sheppard to!ﬂfy on the OM’ Ar

eir,



Q The announcer that evening? A Yes, ®ir.
Q You heard all of them say you were in MM M
A Yes, oir, "
Q At that improvised bar? A Yes, eir.
Q Te that true? A J was not in the back to see m M
7 had to go in once, in the middle time, they oalled me lﬂp

There wa® esuch a rush on that table, on the bar, ﬂllt the bar-

tender could not get nothing and he said, "Look, they are taking
everything and grabhing and there !® no money coming®. So T

stayed there a few minutes and looked after it and then 1 closed

the door and had to go out again, BT
Q What wae on the stage at that time? A Wothing was on
the stage. : ‘ :
Q War that during intermiseion? A There wa® no QQM
at that time. | | it
Q You recollect at one time at which you went in that
place in the rear-- whre there any other timee during thgt.ulﬂl_
that you were in there? A VYo, eir,
Q Any other times at all? A V¥o, sir,
Q You are sure of that? A Yes, ®ir.
Q V¥ell now, when ¥r. Vatson and Vr., 0'Shea and wr,

testify that you were in there vhile part of the »mm,

truth or you telling the truth? A Yhen T was there ﬂw

e "" V'
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no show on at the same time. J

on, are they telling the truth or are you telling the tnﬁ‘l
A T tell the truth, M

Q When you went in there to see about the bar, ﬂl‘n 0&'
Vr, ¥rause, the hartender, called you in there, 414 you m M*
Shepprard there? A Yo, eir, . _’

Q NiA not gee him at all? A Vo,

Q NiA he come and #tand next to you? A T don't knmow no
Thepnard at all, only after we got locked up=- T Afdn't Mll ik v&
hefore, '. e ek Y

Q NiA you see ¥r, Schaefer inside at that time? A Ih‘ '
Schaefer? '

Q Yhere was he when jyou went in there? A e was l'i_’ﬂ‘ on
the door there.

Q On the door? A Yes, fir, right next to the bar. !

4
Q DiA jou see Schaefer and Sheppard together conversing thgt1
{

!

night? A T don't know, T A4id not see them.

Q When one of the witnesses testifies that you were standing

0lose by wHile the conversation was going on between Schaefer
and Teppard, he i mistaken, i# he not? A T don't M:lf 1.,
war Sheppard or Schaefer-~ T Adon"t know one from thofo'thhn'r'm;
night, | :

Q You knew Schaefer” A 7 knew ﬂohnfcm"‘ He mn l“ '



door and 41dn't know who talked to him or nothing, I hed

chance to look for that,
f ' e
Q Vhat 414 you 4o in that place while you were u:ﬁ .

when you went in there at the call of ¥Wr, Krause? A dﬁ‘b‘&”
there a little and they grabhed ever)thing to get lﬂm“ |
then went back again. That is all. Fandled the -no:n .‘-nm
over, what wae ocoming over the bar, ‘
Q P14 you i.ko the money at that time? A Yes, Qlf. .r;
Q Wow much money A14 you take that time? A About a _ .-Nﬁ
dollar or two-- about a dollar or two came in at that time.
Q "hat A14 that money come from, the sale of deer?
A %elling bheer, yes, |
other - ) ;
Q D14 you receive any money at ‘any time for the male of
beer in there, or the sale of anything? A Vo, sir. :
Q All you got that night was a dollar and a half? A M
that minute,
Q At no other time 414 you get any other money? A When
the show was over T took the box out again and there vae ahout
ten dollars came in that night, in the back, that they solAd ﬁhlx"x;
night,
Q You took {ftout? A Yes, oir, it was in a cigar boi.
Q@ You were also in the rear room .ft,'or the show began?

A Tust took only a few minutes to take the rest of the mtuff

out.
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Q Vae there anybody on the stage? A Wo, llr.
Q VYas there anybody at tho pim singing? A lc, uv. ’
Q Yas there anybody at the pilano singing when you Cﬂt lt
there at the call of Wr., Krause? A Yo, eir, nothing .a&’n oOa
at all, because the eside door wae open and there was mﬁg~ on gl
the stage. ' |
Q V¥r. Schaefer had the side door closed? A Yes, oir,
Q At all timee while anything wae go!n.lon? A !iﬁ. sir.
Q Jf people wanted to go in, did4 he open that door?
A There wae nohody to go in any more., They Were dl inside.
Q Ni4d anybody come out while the show was ”lﬂ‘ldﬂ‘
tell you what was going on in the back? A Yo, eir.
Q D14 you hear anything going on in the dack? A Wo, »ir,
Q Ni4d you hear any noises? A Wo, sir, & ‘
Q@ fSinging or anything? A Couldn't hear-- theres was a
little noise from the people in there-- couldn't hear go llulﬁ;
and only the piano. |
Q Did you hear any applause or yells? A VYo, 01‘!'. you
couldn't understand that outeide at all.
Q You AidAn't know what was going on until when-- when 4id
’ you Tirst know what occurred there that night? A Only in the
court T heard it, (
Q Did the detectives tell you dhm they arrested you VM

you were being arreeted for? A Wo, eir.



Q Yhat charseter of kind of performances went
place?
THR COURT: Vever mind that, All we m ﬂ

know 18 what this performance was. You M

this wae a proper performance or an h;nm
ance. v

WR, WRISHAUPT: !' understand that i t)p.}' .‘"“.
but some evidence has come in here either through u-
truthfulnese of witnesses or thmuh' the error '9! |
witnesses to show certain things oecurred m’ﬁ.w
prize fights, _ _ ‘

THR ANTRT: T think 7 struck all that mcm
out. Tt was the evidence of the Fnhlalﬂnm i
motion T struck it out and 7 shall instruct tho ”ﬂ
that it i® not the character of the place we .ro try-

ing=-- 1t i® what occurred on this evening in gquestion.

ARNSS WXAMTWATION RY WR, TOWNERND:
Q You had a place in 13th Street?
| Nhjected to a® incompetent, 1"010'@% and [
immaterial, not connected with the tuiahm."A,",' n
the further ground that it is an attempt to Hm

character evidenoce.



TH® COURT: When you oalled nnr nw;‘
wi tnon. you elothed h!u with nmomudw

(-
. you may understand,
wxception,
RYWR, TOVNSWND: »
Q You had a place in 13th Street? A 7T never !l.l j
4 before,
Q TXre you ever connected with a place, 138 Rast 13th
Qtreet? A \J was dartender.
Q ¥ast 13th Street? A T was bartender ﬂwm |
Q TPartender? g Yem, 8ir.
Q Wow long were you there? A About five years.
Q Nidn't you get to he manager? A VNo, sir,
Q You 414 not? A No, sir,
Lo Q Head harkeeper, were you? A Yo, eir, ‘
Q Vhat harkeeper were you-- how luch 414 you get paid

there? A Yhat?
Q Wow much were you paid? A $15 a week. Erlae

Q Yhat was that place there” A Tt was a hotel.



Q VYomen frequented 1t? A They came couﬂ-n,.ﬂ‘ff\

Q Oentlemen and ladies? A Yes, sir. ' .

Q@ NiAn't you eollect from the women when they oame cm
at night” A Yot a cent. T was never the bookkeeper. There 4
wa® another clerk there. T Vas the hartender.

Q You never took any money from the women a#® 1hqy,¢il6'
downstairse? A Yo, sir, |
| Q Bure of that? A Yo, sir, 7 414 not.

Q Did jou take checks from them? A Chock.--.ac; sir,
There wva® no checks there, not so long I was there. —

Q Fow 4o you know there were not cheoks thorvf “‘wwf“lii“ﬂ
there was uolohnkl there when T wae working there. |

Q Wow wa® it managed, by What, how wae 1t run if 1t 414

not run by check? A There was no checka there, never. Tean '

prove that, . '_ﬂ
Q Jf a man and lady came Iin what 414 he 40® A 7T don't i

know-- they only rot a room and T 414 mot give them no room, i

either. b
Q "hat?” A T 414 not give them no room, j :ﬁ
Q You never had anything to 4o with that? A Wo, sir. ,§

Q The place wat raided constantly while you were there?
A Yever was arrested before.

Q Vas not the place raided while you were there?

A Yo, sir.



Q Vever raided while you were there? A u.q! .
‘wae raided, . . o
- Q Do you kmew what T mean when 7 oay raieset A m,

Q Vhat 40 T mean? A The same like get arrested, ‘_ g

Q That the police came there and arrested the people?

A Yo, »ir, :
Q Tt never happened while )oulvioro there? A Yo, .‘?i,.[ﬁ‘

while 7 was there.

two o'elock in the afternoon.

Q And worked up until when? A About twelve p'r,m: o

) o'oloeck. ' \ ‘ i
Q Vever worked after twelve o'cloek T suppose? A m

twelve? | s ‘ ._

Q Yes. A Ve closed-- it was not open all ‘“"", nm

closed, - .

| Q Fow late 414 you close? A About one o'eloeck it got
closed, sometime® later,

Q And sometimes hefore one-- never after one? A Oh, 30.;

Y after one. | ‘
Q Yhat? A Yes, ’

Q Ni4 yolt ever ®ell any liquor after one? AT a4 not

téc e no charge of that, |

Q Vhat 414 you 407 A 7T was hartender.



mai'c you sell any liquor there? A VWot

What? A Yot after one.

Wever after one? A Wo, sir.

O O O

What was going on upstairs in this place that i:ﬁt’
A At nllght? e ;
Q Yes. A T ‘oould not mee anything. :
Q Didn"t you go up'oturl? A T Aldn't nﬂ.ﬁrmﬂc ”"
staire,
Q Vas there a meeting up there? A A meeting?
Q Yes. A Where? | .
Q Upetairs in 233 wast 33rd Street? A Oh, in 231== T
thought you were speaking about the hotel yet. . ‘ o
Q Yo, noj T am not speaking about that, 7 WM
231, what took place upstairs® A T 414n*t go upstairs that
night, gen
Q "i;o there anything go 1'ng on up there? A There m a |
einging society up there.
., Q@ "ho sang up there? A Finlandish singing soclety was h’
there. b ‘
Q Who sang-- what 414 they 4o up there? A Singing=~~ wm""
Vednesda)y the)y came there and sang. v
Q You d4idn't go up there at all? A Wo, sir. |
Q So you don't know what took place? A Wo, Ql,_ll'-;."f_l_'.

QMo long have 30u heen & proprietor of 2P A Simes



i

n. 1% of Vareh last year, i .

Q Since the llt of Wareh lut year? A !4 !

o

Q Vow long were you there before that th.’ﬁ;!'
1iving in the houss, in 23_1. first floor. '!‘itorq vas :
T was living.

Q Wow long? A Three years,

Q Didn*t you have anything to do with the uun. ﬁc

hotel, until the 18t of Warch? A Until the 1st af Hm

way ?
Prancisco and his brother-in-lar wase upOMrl ull ,,,,,
up and utea me 1f T wanted to take the pless emd |
.know.' S0, spoke about me, and called a collector m
Rrewery and the hrewer asked me how much money r'-‘ ”i
T got so muoh and then he said, "Why don't you tmm Alo

Q You hired the maloon? A Then T got in the m.

that was the first,

A T was 80 long there.

and the hall? A Ve and my wife, ;u.‘

Q Why 414 you have the license in your wife's mam



T was not no citizen, .
Q You were not a eitisen? A .!o.i Mr.
Q Wow long hwo.you been in thie ;.-ntry? A Ten yi
Q You never had any trouble -uﬁ the mtuw

yourself? A Yo, sir. L

' Objected to. |

THR MOURT: Tt is already mﬁor;l. o

TY ¥R, TOWNS®EYD: ¢
Q You are sure ;‘bqut that? A About what? NS e

Q Any Sunday violations? A Yes, sir; .Qt a fnt;.m‘

T 4idn't knc;v right away what youmeant by m!n-- £

meant., J cannot speak good Mnglish. ‘ ' ;

what it means now,
Q You were in trouble several times with the exe:

with the police? 'A

Otzhoted to.
Ohrjection sustained. _ _ &
. . THR ~O""RT: You may ask him if ho hae mriqﬂ
convicted. e
nYy ¥R, TOWNS®RWD: v
Q This show was to last only an hour? A What?
Q This performance that night lasted only an |

A About an hour,




\

Q MAan't you think it was a pretty monolsn |

$£2,50 and 85 o tiotot’ AT founa that out on:l) 'hn
what the price was,

Q "ho 414 you ask? A Wr, Schaefer.

Q You asked him what the price was? A Yes, #ir,

Q What 414 he say? A $2.50,

Q DNidn"t you think that was pretty high? A T would n t
give a quarter for it.

Q You would not give a quarter? A lo. sir, not me.

Q Tt 18 an old stor) with you | suppose~-- A The first
£ime T heard of Such things-- T never knew what such & Show as
that could be held that way, only when we got arrested, and
then T heard about it, ‘ '

Q DNidn*t you tell the gentlemen 1t wae going to be a Mo
and going to bte all right? A Yo, ®ir,

Q YVever said anything like that? A That l;. Tﬂio. m.
all about it-- ¥r, Nennis tolA him about it-=- they knew more-~
they were born in this ccuntry and 7 don't know nothing about lt.

Q You maw Vr, N'Shea here yefterda), a witness? A Y‘l.‘ ;
sir,

Q N14 you hear the witness testify as follows: "ﬂe'r
slk.ﬂ the defendant®-~ that is you-~ "if the ilc' was ‘QJI' %QIJ
Pe all right and he 114 yes, it would be s good |

said it would cost me $2.850

L
e saniiiil



testifying to that? A Who said that?

Q 0'Shea, yesterday? A Yes, sir, T heard that. m

on the door, 1 told him, he begged me thut T should .ﬂw h

Q “o begeed you? A Yes, »ir,

q That 414 he say to you? A Wr, Tone® alwayh-+ ! 'll j
hu-y on the har and AidAn't want to tall all the time to hh “
he ®aid, ""ome on andget ¥r. 0'Shea in", and T went to 'lr-
Schaefer and asked him-- T told him first T got a mm. how
much 18 1t to go in, and | told ¥r, Jones first, Oi.lb. m he
went back to ¥Yr. O'Shea and told him Qhout it and ¥r, 0'Shea
comes over and said, "Core and get me in' and he nm gn ﬂl
the time along that 7 shall take the money off him and hand !G
to ¥r. Schaefer.

Q You 414 not want to touch the money? A Yo, sir,

Q What about t.h: ohuuio. how many 4ollars wi he give )ﬂl"‘-:
A ¥r. 0'Shea? ¥ -

Q Yee., A T 4idn't count it, Only T handed it just that
wa) .

Q NiAn't you hear him testify that he gave you three one

Aollar bille? A WMr, Schaefer counted that up.

Q ™A he give you three one dollar Hills? A Yes, oir,
Q And you took him in the rear room to & man named Bchaefer
A Tt was not in the rear room, That was just hehind MW. '

Q And yon eaid, "This is this young man's m*m |



Schaefer ﬁok the money and gave him ﬂm cents H
A Vot -o. .
Q Schaefer took the nonoy’ A Bﬂhtofor M w
gave fifty cente to 0'Shea himself, "i\‘
“Q You took him to Schaefer? A Yes, Ol‘r.
Q And you handed the three dollars to Wr. sw,
A Yee, sir.
Q And you said, "Thie is this man's money®? A r”, “’-
Q And he gave him fifty cents back? A ¥Wr, WM"%

it to VYr, N'Shea.

a friend of Wr. Nennis whut. live in the house.
before.
Q WHow do you know if he wae a friend of his? A v.n.m
' nmni+ntroﬂuood him, brought ¥r. Jones in there, M t nm
times® he was up in the place, in the week time. |
Q Do you recollect Vr, Vatson testifying here ‘::citnlq.
the gentleman with the glasses? A VWith the glasses, f’”’
~ Q Wow, ses 1f you recall this testimony ae nxm.j‘mm w
¥r. Wateon: "7 asked him how much it would be%=- A h‘ll e

not ask me, ‘ :



him it would he #6567 A Yo, sir,

Q And do you recolleot his testifying yesterday, "When
- we -lcnlflod we were going inside, ¥r, 8“100’&0&”
would take us in and he 4id"-- do you rooollnt thlt-
him you would take him in and you A14% A 7T only M m “
Vy, Schaefer, only brought him next to the lunoh M‘!. :
Q You passed him in there? A Yes, oir, '
Q DNo you recollect Vr, Vatson testifying. ’“‘“‘o*’ »"M"-
T atked him {f he would take tho money and he said, "Give 1t “

this man', and 7 gave the $10 for admission for wo to lr.

3

Schaefer"? A Yo, 414 not say that. , ' ;

Q How long hefore that night had you so omdod Q MO. ".‘ j“

" that=- when wa®s the last porfomsnoe there~- 'hon was m M
performance in that room hefore that? A Had no pomm

Q@ Yever had one hefore? A Only singing lo.-lotu..

Q Only singing societies? A Yes, ®ir,

Q Thie wa® a little out of the ordinary? A lo-; never
wa® orderly in th- place.

Q 7Yook at these plecer of paper and state whether ;bu
have ever seen them hefore? A Yo, #ir, 7 414 not see o'nob ﬁf
them, . ‘

Q Vhat Aces it say on there? A f Never saw 1t m

Q Did you ses . men handing them in that ’ mw'n
went in-- were there any tickets there used that QM’ l



gave 1t all to ¥r. Schaefer,

Q D14 you see anp tickets used? A Vo, sir, -6@
only they walked in-- T don't know if tho: pald money “ '
or not, or handeA him tickets. : i

Q You dAon*t know 1f any money wa® paid or umu M‘M
A Yo, eir, | |

Q NiA yof see three hundred men go in by your har m&
night® A T A14 not count them. There was a good 1-:-! m.»

Q A great many were there not? A Yes, oir,

Q@ You have been five or six years in this hotel 4down in
1%th Street? A Yes, s8ir, l

Q A bartender? A Yes, sir,

Q And you have been living up in this place for tm,')M
or two years? A Yes, oir, |

Q A7d thie performance you knew mothing about? A Wo,
eir,

Q VYhat wae® going on in this room where you let these
people in, 1# that 1t? A T 414 not know,
| Q You 444 nhot know what it was? A Yo, sir,

Yever heard® A Yo, sir,

Wave you heard j3et? A Only after ihon ve got .r’n_nto‘.f
Yho told you? A VYhen we got up in 57th mr«i mﬂ-
YHo told you? A What wae with me in the cell.

Yho was in the cell with you? A w “ m

H L o O O



and then actors, |
Q What 414 they tell you? A They may we got m.‘“
\ i \
because it war a Aiforderly show in the baok.

Q NiA yoa ask them what was done? A Yo, sir; they

#speak to them at all.
Q You eould not speak to them? A Yo, sir, :
Q You never found out sven then-- 4id you ask them what
they were doing in there? A T 414 not ask them, _‘l‘hey told
me the whole story. e
Q What 414 they tell you? A That it wans girle q’m :
etage takingtheir olothes off, | e

They told you that? A Yes, eir,

Q
Q WYhat 414 yotl eay? A 7T said 7 A4id not see it,
Q You 414 not see i1t? A Yes, oir. =) e

Q D14 they ask you where yon were? A Wo, they 414 not

ark me. They knew T was alwaye outoido.
Q Tey 414 know that? A Yes, sir. R
Q NiA they know that j;ou collected the money to let them
in there with? A Wo, eir, | ) i
Q Di4A you tell them that? A Afterwards J told them that ¥
¥r, O0'Shea, 7 let him in, that he got in on account of me, é
Q And ¥r, Vatson got in on acecuni of you uu' ANr, 4

Jone® took him in along.




4

¥

Q When 414 you first hear what the price of. ﬁv t. : :
wvas? A Before ¥r. 0'Shea went in,

Q Who told you? A VYr, Schaefer.

Q ¥r. Schaefer? A Yes,

Q What 414 you ®ay to him when? A Ve wante “ .ﬁ i‘
80 quick and begged me T shall get him 1n and ®so T imm “ “‘
find out first how much it 18 and then "wn T told hi‘* h. m G
all right Tpay that, get me in and so-- i

Q What 414 you say to Schaefer about the price of the
tickets? A 7T Aidn't say ndthing to Schaefer.

Q What had you ever known the price of tickete M\w at

that hall hefore for any entertairment? A I 414n't knmow nothing

about it, v '
Q TRefore, at other meetings there, how much 414 they mr‘
charge? A Tn meetings? .v \g
Q Yes., A There 18 no charge for tickets. They got union il
carde to get in, i
Q Yhen AiA4 fchaefer first speak to you about thie vonur- gl
tainment? A We hired the hall hefore "hristmas,
Pefore "hristmas? A Yes, oir, | ~ ' i{",

P14 youn ¥now him bhefore that? A Wo, sir, |

Q
Q
Q Ve came there to you? A Ves, eir,
Q Alone” A All alone. |

Q

Vow many time® 414 he ocome after that time? A Olh




come=- if he came back T was not sure, #0 he .

o'elook,

Q You mean to say the tickets were not put out m i

Ly

morning? A T Aon't know about the tickets, if he ‘mm ,
tickets out or not, hut nobody came. R
Q DNDidAn't he tell you that he had given OSM{O ntf
A Yo, eir. | l
Q Do you know anything about the Apollo ﬂm. 0lub?
A Yo, eir, ‘ ‘
Q NiA you ever know that they met At. your hall, ﬂw
Tecumseh Hall? A Wo, sir, B
Q Didn't you know that they met there on the 2nd of
A Yo, sir, | |
Q0 You 414 not? A' Yo. _
Q Tould you he surprised to learn that they 414 meet t’hovvo_;,;
on the 2nd of JTanuary? A There was® no c¢ludb or meeting.
Q ‘Tere wae no mebting there that night on the M‘ of
Tanuary? A Yo, sir,
Q Te that true? A Yee, sir, L
Q DiA you see fchaefer afterwards, after the show?

A Yo, eir,

Q Why were you going down etairs with your hat "M i



you were arrested? A Yhen T vu arrested?

Q Yes. A T had to go upetairs when ﬂu) mm,

ue all together.

Q D14 you hear ¥r. Watsom testify that you had
going Aown the cellar when you Were arrested? A
tollet. ) i

Q You were going Aown to the toilet? A M.l.‘ “M

side,yes.

out that way,
Q Mould not? A Wo, sir,
Q fellar Aown there? A The cellar, yes.
Q You started, when you heard thq noime, to .t'lho y
ie that 1t7 A Yo, air, T had to go dAown there. »

Q ™uAdden call of nature? A Yes, e#ir, g

RR-NTR™'T WYAVTTATTON RY WR, WRTSHAUPT:
Q D14 ¥r. Schaefer ever tell you that he was connected
with any elub of any sort? A Wo, eir, ‘ ,
Q At the time before "hristmas that he oame to m ”II.
414 you make any Adefinite arrangement about any llﬁt ":m,
to have the place~- 414 you tell him he could. m i! “, :

Pl

20th? A Yes, sir,



Q@ Did you tell him he could have 1t on any other dey?
A Yo, sir. ok
Q MA not? A Yo, sirj the other days are Gllr
already. : ’
Q All the other Aaye in Tanuary? A Yes, oir,
Q nid you look over your 1ist? A Yee, eoir, J M
calendar of that, | ‘ 4
Q@ DiA you give him two alternative days or “" m 'm
one, the 20th? A Only the 20th, Ny e

Q The first time you maw Schaefer in NDecember, between

that time and the time that you say you saw lu. en |
of the 20th of Tanuary, you 4id mot see him between Mﬂ, f

Aaye? A VNo, ®ir,

T
Mo

' ' oo
Q Did anybody from him come to see you? A W¥o, Q‘#’ i

A Yo, eir.
Q WYhether he came or anybody else came to see you?
A Yo, sir.
Q They might have omg? A VYever spoke-~ ] neve rflu
out, .
Q D14 you leave any arrangements for tﬁo, place to m
in your employ” A Wo, sir, : M
Q Did ¥r, Krause have a i'ilht'. if he desired, to ln to ' "



D

some people the night of such and such a aéto ie empty n‘l m

can have the pluo.? A 'o. oir.
Q T mean at any time, if somebody came to the ’1,_‘"}%

wanted to hire the hall for some night and jou were l.t .
. '_:

and ¥r, Nennis wa® there, ocould Vr., Nennis make any m
for you? A Yo, ®ir, P
Q FWaA to come to you? A Wad to come to me, ytl. '
Q Yell, what tonk place on the night of Tanuary 2nd im
your place-- 40 you remember that night? A What day was
that? ‘
Q The Aay after Yew Years. A Vas uouﬂu-«a»?
don't know what 4ay in the week it 'u.
Q That was Saturday, the night of Jsmury 2n4? A m
was nothing only a meeting. ' VR iy
Q A meeting? A Yes, #ir, tailors, ‘
Q Yhere was that? A That was down stairs,
Q VYar there anything upstairs that night? A Upstaire R ‘?
they-- T got four-- there i® a partition-- there 18 many |

organizatione, one comes on this side and one on this side and

the “ig organization got to go down stairs, ‘ i
Q Wow many organizations could meet upstaires at one time? ‘
A "Two,

Q There vere two roomse? A Yes, #irn

Q VWere both of those rooms oeccupied that night?



A Yes, sir.

Q Yho were they occupied by? A Tailors, 7y

Q Tailors upstaire and down stairs also? ‘A Yﬂcz‘“ﬁ_‘

Q Nifferent lodges of the l-c" organization? A Yes,
Aifferent..

Q Wow long have you known this tailors® 1!.‘1‘&&&.!!'
A That wae there hefore T came.

Q Wow long Aid they meet in your place? A 7 ‘pgi?-ig.‘@f-
Then T ovened the place 1t was not olosed, it was always open,
the Union wae right there already, i

Q Yhen you eame to that place that "nion wae mm
there? A Yer, oir, meeting already there, every one. |

Q ﬁoy had the entire place on the ulﬁt of the ﬂ.f
Tanuary? A VYell, every two weeks; on‘ Saturday M m i“"“
and the other “aturda) these reople got %, | ‘

Q T mean on this very night, on the 2nd? A Yes®, eir,

that was the tailors.,

RY TW® BTH JUROR: |
Q You eatd wr., Dennis came to see you the night hefore

this show, with ¥r, JTonee? A Yee, oir, : .. ‘
Q AnA that ¥r, Nennie told you that there was going to be .

a show there tomorrow, that you should treat ¥r. Jones right?

A Yees, eoir,

Q NPiA you know of such a show? A ¥o, eir,




Q DNi4 you ask what kind of a show it was gol

A Yo, eir, ]
Q You dfd not know anything Mt‘ 1t? A Wo, ®ir, on
R T know thers would te ladier ®inging and duolu. | :
Q You knew that the nlght before? A Yes, ﬂr-~ nn
only when Schaefer came about ten o'ecloek.
Q That mording? A Yes, eoir, ‘
Q T talk about the night hefore, dld' you W’l‘
the night hefore? A V¥r, Nennis spoke to Vr, Jones Q‘OII 1t
that there would he singing and Aaneing the nm night and T

shall get ¥r, TJonee in, hecause ¥r,Nennis mnot brlu i& ta.

¥eAnerday afternoon, he left the house., Fe was 1"’~ II m

house. ' S :
: Q Wobody told you there wae going to bhe Wﬂlli‘- M :

night of the 20th, at that time? A T beg your DM o

Q W¥r., NDennie told you there wa® going to be mﬁm

that night? A That Mr, Dérinta, he was there when Mr, nuom-
came that night and hired the hall, ‘.
N RY VR, WRTSHAUPT: | | ]
Q And you ®ay Yr, Nennis lived in the house? A- IA‘QQ‘ ‘
in the house with his family on the second floor. .
RY TWR® COURT:

Q@ The admission fee was $2,507 A Yes, #in




artout i{t,

7 was busy, ‘ !
Q You lmov_n they were charged #2,50 admiseion? A ‘lqpx
eir, N
Q n14 jyou suppose if wa® an ordinary singing hl‘ ‘
entertaimment for whioh they were giving $2, 507 A !‘ ml. m

undont;nd how a man would pa)y that=- 7 don't know if the ‘Q:.'

Sl e i = Tl |

if they paid that money.

s S e 1

Q When you found they were charging $2.50 th.'tdq f.lq'..

414n't 1t induce jou to make some inquiry about what the

,, waf to be? A T wa® so busy there, your Wonor, m:~ 4
Al green in that busineses jet. | ‘ i

Q You knew £2,50 wae ;'cthor high admiseion fee, Q’A’ﬁ‘ﬁ

for an ordinary entertaimment of esinging and Aaneing? ‘ l

had some hefore and the; paid a dollar and they got refr .
hefore that., T Aon't know what he wante to Ao,

Q You knew they were not to get refreshmente .in"ﬁhii
inetance” A Yes, oir,

Q TPecause you conneoted up that keg of heer-~ have you
anything else to say? A 7T could not stop it-- J don't know if
T could stop 1t or not and if T saw an)thing T wonid do 1%, ’

Q T only ask you, when you learned that the an ;

fee wae £2.50, 414 you make any inquiry as to what the i



A Yo, sir,
Q You 414 not? A Wo, sir.
Q AnAd were you suspieious that thorb‘m

the ordinary going on? A Vell, T can't tdlﬂ:‘h

not eay.

TWRTIVONY CLOSRED.

: Y Tt 1s admitted on the part of the defense that '
Cora Smith plead guilty in this Court of Gemeral

- Sessions, of the crime of ood-u cmutn .t ﬂu

that the defendant Schmlooﬂd hwl no

with the two women in question prior to tho QW‘

the 20th of Tanuary, 1904,

; | | YR, WRISYAUPT: T now renevmy motion to__ﬂ-icﬂ‘_
upon the same @rounde as stated at iho close of M

, ' - People'®s case.

- ‘ Votion denied,

Exception.
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